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Lupus Capital

Lupus Capital aims to build shareholder value

through the acquisition of industrial assets with the

potential for development and the application of proven

management skills and systems in order to achieve

greater profitability.
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2007 Highlights
Underlying pre tax profits £25.0 mllion (2006. £10 0 muliion) £2 1 6 9 m
Strong cash generation - net debt of £100.0 mullion i

12% increase 1n annual dividend to § 57p Sales

£242 5 mullion acqusition and integrauon of
Laird Security Services (“LSS”) £ 3 1 9
Adjusted earnings per share - up 20% to 14 82p ° m

Underlying operating profits

up 12%

Dividends

Our Strategy

Our approach to sectors is very disciplined and with a clear focus. Target companies
will be involved in industnal manufacturing, processing, services or distribution for
industries, businesses or consumers. Our key requirements are asset based, positive
cash flow, industral activities with potential for development. In addition we will target
fragmented industnes, seek consolidations, as well as develop organic growth
opportunities.

Outlook for 2008

With the continuing advantages of our LSS acquisition, its 12 month contribution in
2008, our capable management teams and vigorous financral disciplines, and provided
external conditions allow, we anticipate another year of development at Lupus Capital

during 2008.
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Chairman’s statement
Greg Hutchings

Dear Shareholder,

With many benefits coming from operating improvements,
LSS synergies with Schlegel and our non-US activities
including Gall Thomson, we have achieved an excellent
financial performance.

Lupus Capital plc (*Lupus”) 1s able to report
an eminently satisfactory set of results for
the year ended 31 December 2007 in
addition to a major acquisthon, Laird Security
Services (‘LSS") acquired on 27 Apnl 2007
for £242 5 milkon, which was paid for mainly
by £120 mithon of debt and £136 miltion of
new equity The purchase was in ine with our
strategic objectve of creating value for our
shareholders by acquinng, integrating and
developing businesses in the indusinal sector
one of which 1s, in parhicular, the bu:lding
products area. 1SS was not only a compettor
of Schleget Building Praducts (*Schlegel”) but
also complementary

With many benefits coming from operating
improvements, LSS synergies with Schlegel
and our non-US actmities including Gall
Thomsaon, we have achieved an excellent
financial performance despite the US building
products end markets, in which LSS and
Schlegel are active, detenorating

throughout 2007

In December 2007 Lupus shares were
consolidated on a 1 for 10 basis and all figures
have been adjusted accordingly

Results for the year

To help understand the results, adjusted
measures of underlying profit before tax and
earnings per share have been used as defined

Sales, including the acquisibon of LSS, were
£216 859 milhon (2006 £62 940 million)
and underiying pre-tax profits increased to
£25021 million (2006 £10034 million)
Reported underlying earnings per share
Jumped 20% to 14 82p (2006 12.35p)

The figures for the penod are not directly
comparable as they include a major acquisition

Dividend

A growing dividend 1s also one of our
abjectives and we have yet agamn been able
to achieve this with a senes of dvidends

We are recommending a final dvidend for
2007 of 351p (2006 3 34p) If approved
at the AGM, which we will be holding on
2 July 2008, this final drdend will be pad
on 14 July 2008 to shareholders on the
register at 9 May 2008.

This, together with the special intenm
dwidend of 150p per Ordinary Share in
respect of the 4 months ending 30 Apni
2007 and the further intenm dradend of 0.56p
for the first half of 2007, will make a total
dwvidend n respect of the 2007 year of 557p
up over 129 from the 4 97p paid in respect
of the 2006 year
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We continue to seek the development of Lupus
through both organic growth and selective acquisitions.

Group 2007 Progress

The eight month contribution from LSS,
although incurmng a number of exceptional
cost items, has been sigmificant both in profit
and as a result of many changes and
synergies achieved

The reporting structures of both Schlegel
and LSS have been altered dramatically with
the Schlegel US business now integrated
into LSS US and the LSS UK campanies
absorbed under the Schleget European
management team The LSS less making
conservatory business was sold on 27 July
2007, several US facilities were closed,
purchastng power has increased, cost savings
have been made, cross selling opportunities
grasped and shared product development
enhanced New financial disciplines in LSS
UK have generated significant cash out of
working capital and a greater understanding
of financial performance and opportunity

Gall Thomson Environmental (*Galt Thomsan®,
*GTE") which manufactures manne
breakaway couplings primarily for the ail and
gas sector, has had another record
performance beating previous years in sales,
profits and cash generation KLAW, whose
industnal products are made for sirilar
sectors, also had a good year showing
excellent growth in sales of both existing and
new products resulting in its best ever annual
profits and cash generahon

All our businesses have generated exemplary
cash flow dunng 2007 enabling us to keep our
debt taken on for acquisiions under contro!

Corporate
On 11 December 2007 shareholders
approved a number of resolutions

* Lupus shares were to be consalidated on
a one for ten basis with effect from
12 December 2007

+ Up to 14 95% of shares In 1ssue were able
to be purchased by the Company and either
placed in treasury or cancelled To date
744 milhon shares have been bought
back and placed in treasury costing the
Company £6 71 mdiion

The new debt faciity to finance part of the
acquisihion of LSS was all denominated n
USS and consisted of $120 million at a fixed
rate before margin of 502% for three years
and $120 million at a floating rate, although
capped at 5 5% before margin, also for three
years

The acquisiton of LSS has broadened the
sphere of operations of Lupus Capital ple
and management has reviewed the nsk
profile of the enlarged group

We continue to seek the development of
Lupus through both orgamic growth and
selective acquisttions

The excellent cash generation from all cur
businesses has enabled Lupus to reduce
debt at a speed quicker than ongmally
envisaged At 31 December 2007 net debt
stood at £99 992 millien K has also provided
funds to increase our dvidend to shareholders
for the 2007 year at a higher rate than
forecast at the time of the LSS acquisition

Outlook

The general economic chimate for 2008 15
uncertain and has continued o detenorate
in the first few months The US housing
emvironment 1s at a low ebb and the European
bullding components market has become
vaned between countries The current
business conditions require continuous
exammation and control of our cost base,

Nevertheless there are positive factors The
oil and gas sector remains bucyant Gall
Thomson and KLAW both started the year
with excellent order books and look forward
to continuing to perform well The inihiat
synergies of combimng Schiegel and LSS
are now marifest and we still plan for further
benefits to come, as their end markets start
to recover we will be in a strong position to
exploit these new opportunities

With the continuing advantages of our LSS
acquisition, ts 12 month contnbuton in 2008,
our capable management teams and vigorous
financial disciplines, and provided external
canditions allow, we anticipate another year
of development at Lupus Capiial during
2008

Greg Hutchings
Charrman
30 May 2008
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Group business review

Business of Gall Thomson
Environmental Limited

Gall Thomson is the world's leading suppher
of manne breakaway couplings lts subsidiary,
KLAW is a supplier of industnal couplings
including quick release couplings and
breakaway couplings

A Gall Thomson manine breakaway coupling
1s used in the ol and gas industry to enable
a loading hne to part safely and then to shut
off the product supply In the event of a
vessel moving off station dunng the loading
or discharging of ol and gas products,
whether at offshare moorings or jetty
terminals The purpose of the breakaway
coupling 1s firstly to stop environmental
polluhion and secondly to prevent damage

to pumping and transfer equipment.

Gall Thomsan also supplies the quick release
Welin Lamine camlock coupling which 1s
used in the hose and loading arm system for
the transfer of ol and gas products

The greater number of our couplings are
designed and made to order for the major oil
producers Stock and working capital levels
are thus easily visible There 15 also an
tncreasing demand for refurbishment of our
products which have been in use for many
years and exposed to the elements

The excellence of the couplings and their
technology together with the significant
environmental and financial consequences af
nsking less established products gives Gall
Thomson a considerable advantage and
strong market share

The pancipal actvity of KLAW, which has
conbnued to develop over the year, 1s that of
the manufaclure, assembly and distribulion
of industnal quick release couplings for
activities such as refining, exploratron and
construchon They are also used in the
transportation of product by road and raid

GTE, who operate mainly in the offshore
industry, has benefited from a strong ol price
that had encouraged the major ol producers
to commence new projects worldwide In
addition, the drive towards environmental
improvements continues to have a positive
effect. Approximately 0% of turnover was
derved from exported sales spanning the
world from Europe to Asia, America to the
Middle East and Afnica Nearly all sales are
made in Pounds Sterling so we have limited
exposure to a fluctuating Dollar

Business of Schlegel Building Products
Schlegel 15 a leader in the manufacture and
marketing of door and window seals, prnmarily
for the worldwide housing market, which
currently has around 600 employees, more
than 5,000 customers and sells over

650 millron metres of seals in a year Core
manufactunng competencies are continuously
moulded urethane feam, narrow fabne
textiles, and extruded plastics As a leading
producer of urethane foam (compression
seals) and woven pile (sliding seals) for the
window and door markets, its seals are sold
in more than 75 countrnies from seven
manufacturing plants located around the
wortd In addition, Schlege! supply both
manufactured and assembled door and
window tocking mechanisms to a number of
therr key seal customers

Alsc manufactured are related products for
the non-housing markets such as cleaning
brushes, stabc control devices for copiers
and printers, speciality automotive products as
in sunroof seals and truck spray suppressants,
tractor seat tnm and sway bar brushes

Business of LSS

LSS 15 a leader in the design, development,
manufacture and distnbution of innovative
products and soluttons These aim to improve
performance and thermal efficiency, and
enhance protection and secunty, for homes
and buildings within the residential building
and home improvement markets Its wide
range of products includes window and door
hardware, composiie doors, steel reinforcement
products, windaw seals and uPVC products
These products are marketed under different
brand names and supplied to customers in
the UK, Continental Europe, the US and Asia
As at 31 December 2007 LSS employed
2,076 people worldwide

Within the UK, LSS 1s a leading prowder of
window and door hardware to the retal and
wholesale markets and a manufacturer of
composite doors pnmanly to the social
housing market Other products include
window balances, sash window refurbishment
and steel reinforcement products

In the US, LSS trades as the Amesbury
Group Amesbury 1s the leading US supplier
of window balances and also manufactures
uPVC profiles, foam and pile window seals
Cther products include door hardware and
die cast components

LSS has manufacturing and distribubion
operations 1n the UK and the US, along with
manutactuning faciities in China which,
together with partner supplers, are used as a
base to produce components at low cost for
supply to the UK and US Sales, albeit at low
levels, of Chinese manufactured products to
the Continental European and Asian markets
have also commenced
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Key performance indicators

2007 2006 Growth
Qll services £'000 S000 %
Sales 11,342 9314 X%
Adjusted operating profit’ 5,857 3445 61%
Margin 49.0% 370%
Total Acquisith Organl
2007 2007 1007 2006 Growth
Building products £000 £000 £'000 £000 %
Sales 208,517 (138,58%) 66,922 53826 25%
Adiusted operaung profit' 20,300 16,202} 10,097 8122 24%
Margin 12.8% M H% 18.1% 15.1%

' Adpusted operating prasit 1s cperabng profit evcluding axceptional ilems and amortrsabon of ntangible assats

O1l services

Sales increased in 2007 by 22% to £11342
million, benefiing from a strong ol price that
has encouraged the major oll preducers to
commence new projects worldwide
Operating margins increased substantially to
49%, which delivered an increase of 61% in
adjusted operating profit to £5 557 milhon
(See the table above)

Buiiding products

Sales n the total Bulding Preducts sector of
£205,517 mihon in 2007 preduced an adjusted
operating profit of £26 300 milion Excluding
the contnbution from the LSS acquisition,
sales in the organic group increased n 2007
by 25% to £66 922 milhon, reflecting a full

12 month contnbution fram Schlege!
(acquired m Apnl 2006) Despite the US
bulding products end markets detenorating
during 2007 operating margins in the
organic group were maintained at 15% which
delivered an increase of 24% in adjusted
operating profit to £10097 million (See the
table above)

Strategy

QOur strategy 1s to build shareholder vatue
through the acquisition of industrial assets
with the potential for development using a
spectrum of funding instruments, where with
the apphication of our management skills and
systems we can achieve greater profitability
Once they have been improved, potentral
long-term growth configurations mstalled,
and a cntical mass built, we would expect to
realise a gan through a vanety of exit
mechanisms

Insbtutronal investors are not sympathetic to
public conglomerate orgarisations, they have,
however, even though with very dverse
interests, favoured private equity structures
We intend to follow the private equity
principle of tmed investment exits when
cntical mass and creation of shareholder
value have been achieved by demergers,
IPO's or sales, followed by cash returns to
shareholders when appropnate.

The speed of our decision making and the
management expenence we possess
fogether with the flexibilty of being able to
offer an on-going interest should give us a
competitive edge over private equity
compelhtors when negotating transactons
In addition, we have proven management
skills and systems, as well as the application
of standard financial modelling

Cur approach to sectors will be very
disciplined and with a clear focus Target
companies wilf be involved in industnal
manufacturing, processing or services or
distributton for industries, businesses or
consumers Retaling, financial services,
property and media are outside our range of
interest. Our key requirements are asset
based, posttive cash flow, industnal actmties
with potential for development. In addition,
we will target fragmented industries, seek
consolidations, as well as develop organic
growth opportunities

We will choose to operate in stable markets
where the technology 1s low-risk rather than
markets exposed to quick mnovation and
sudden obsolescence. We prefer to sell tigh
quanbities of mexpensive items or fulfil a igh
volume of contracts as opposed to a smalt
number of very sigmificant cost constituerits

We expect to inject our management skills,
operating systems, financial control
mechamisms and strategy expenence to
improve profitability and financial efficiency

Our industnal focus and busiess expenence
of acquinng, stabilising, contralling, investng

in and developing businesses, together with a

strong exisbng operation gives Lupus Capital pic
exciting prospects

Summary

Gall Thomson is a reliable business and
looks forward to maintaining its success
There are opportunities in most areas of the
world due to an increase in global floating
production systems, as well as the traditional
Single Point Moonng business The dnive to
exploration in deeper waters (greater than
1,000 metres), which require off loading
technigues as opposed to pipeline

infrastructure, prowdes a sound basis for the
Gall Thomson business in the short and long
term KLAW continues to grow as a result of
entenng new markets with successfully
developed innovative products

Both LSS and Schiegel operate within the
worldwide hausing market, which over the
long term s likely to conbinue to grow due to
increased populations and maore single
housing requirements In add:tion, environmental
regulations for energy conservation, of which
seals are an integral part, are becoming more
and more cnfical to both developed and
developing countries These factors should
ensure a growing long term future

We are very pleased about the progress that
we are making with Lupus Our results have
been good, backed by cash generation
enabling us to reward shareholders with
schd dwvidends The purchase of Schlegel
and LSS, both leading building products
manufacturers, were yet another step in
creating a successful growing international
business We have a defined strategy, a
sound balance sheet, good operating actvities
generaling cash and an enthysiastic
enirepreneunal management team ambitious
to drive Lupus Capital plc forward Your Board
15 confident that Lupus has the nght platform
to delver value for shareholders
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Group business review continued

Principal risks and uncertainties

Lupus Capital plc operates globally in vaned
markets and is affected by a number of risks
inherent in its activities, not all of which are
within its control This section highlights
specific areas where we are particularly
sensitwe to business nsk Gur financial
condition or results of operations could be
matenially adversely affected by any of these
nsks Addricnal nsks not currently known to
us, or nsks that we currently regard as
immatenal, could also have a matenal adverse
effect on our financial condition or the results
of aperations

Each business considers strategic,
operational, commeraial, and financial nsks
and identifies nsk miigation actions At a
Group level a review of nsks and exposures
in each business is also performed, with the
ltkelihood of the identified nsks occurring
and therr potential financial impact
considered by the Group's senior management.
Mitigating actons are wentified for each nsk
and the effects of these actions are also
reviewed and monitored for the most
significant nsks

The principal nsks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, which could cause the Group's
actual results to vary matenally from historic
and expected resulis, are set out below

1 The Group's industry 1s highly competitive
The Group may face significant competition,
both actual and potential, mcluding
competition from global competitors which
have large capital resources, in the provision
of similar goods and services to thase which
will be provided by the Group Compebition in
the industry 1s based upon range and quality
of services offered, geographical reach,
reputation and client relationships The
Directors believe that, n view of its range of
services, geographical spread, strategic
focus and reputation, the Group can compete
effectively with its competitors, but there 1s
no assurance that the Group will be able to
compete successfully in such a market place

2. Overall growth and demand for products
The overall growth and demand for products
sold into the Group's markets 1s influenced
by the level of customers' commercial actmty,
which in turn 1s affected by the general
economic chimate, market conditions and
consumer confidence generally This demand
can be unpredictable and the Group has a
low visibility of future orders from its
customers Growth in the demand for such
products 1s dependent on a number of
factors nctuding the macroeconomic
environment, the rate of change in the
regulatory environment and in industry
consoldation, the adophion of new technologies
and customer spending patterns During any
economic downturn, customers are kable to
cancel, reduce or postpone anticipated orders
Any downturn may also lead customers and
compehtors to apply pressure to prices and
this pressure can lead to lashng changes in
terms of pricing policies, delivery capabilities
and market expectations Any perod of
economic downturn could lead to some or all
of these consequences which in turn could
have a matenal adverse impact on the results
of operations and business of the Group Any
continued slowdown in the US residential
construction market could adversely affect
the demand for the Group's products While
the Group does have certain businesses that
are not highly correlated with new residential
construction in the US, it 1s not certain that
the revenue and income from these
businesses would mihgate any decline i the
Group's results due to the weakening of
residential housing actwity :n the US

3. The Group is subject to poltical,
economic and regulatory factors in the
vanous countnes in which it operates,
any of which could impact on its
operating or financial results

Changes in regulatory requirements, tanffs
and other trade barrers, price or exchange
controls, composition or changes in taxation
or other governmental policies in the
countries in which the Group conducts
business could hmit its operatrons and make
the repatnation of profits difficult In addition,
the uncertainty of the legal environment in
some regions could hmit the Group's ability
to enforce s nghts The Group has sourcing
operations in Asia, in parbeular, it has
manufacturing operations in Ningbe, China
as well as sourcing operations from third
party supphers in China The Group expecis
that sales to emerging markets will be an
increasing porbon of total sales as its
customers target those markets Hawving
manufacturing operations in China does
involve certain risks for the Group The
economy of China differs from the economies
of most developed counines in many respects,
including

* government involvement,

* level of development,

« growth rate,

* controd of foreign exchange, and
= allocation of resources

While China’s economy has expenenced
significant growth 1n the past 20 years,
such growth has been concentrated in
certain geographic areas and econormc
sectors The People’s Republic of China
(“PRC") government has implemented
vanous measures to encourage economic
growth and to allocate resources Some of
these measures benefit China's overall
economy, but may also have a negative effect
on the Group's presence in China
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The PRC government continues fo play a
significant rele in regulating industry
development by tmposing industnal policies
It also exercises sigrificant control over
China's economic growth through the
allocation of resources, controling payment
of foreign currency-denominated obligations,
setting monetary policy and providing
preferentral treatment to particular industnes
or companies Any changes in the economic
and social condions in China, in the policies
of the PRC government or in the laws and
regulatons of China, could affect China's
overall economic growth Such developments
could have a matenal adverse effect on the
Group'’s operations in China.

4, Inteltectual property rights may be
difficult to protect and the Group may
unknowingly infringe the intellectual
property nghts of others

While the Group has been granted a number
of patents and other patent applications are
currently pending, there can be no assurance
that any of these patents will not be challenged,
nvahdated or circumvented, or that any nghts
granted under these patents will in fact
provide competitive advantages to the Group

The Group utihises a combination of trade
secrets, confidentrality policies, non
disclosure and other contractual arrangements
in addition to refying on patent, copynight and
trademark laws to protect its intellectual
property nghts However, these measures
may not be adeguate to prevent or deter
infnngement or other misappropriation
Mareover, the Group may not be able to
detect unauthonsed use or take appropnate
and bmely steps to establish and enforce s
proprietary nghts Existing faws of some
countries in which the Group conducts
business may affer only limited protection of
the Group’s intellectual property nghts, if at
all Faldure of the courts and, or administrative
agencies in the PRC to enforce the Group's
intellectual praperty nghts effectvely may
have a matenal adverse effect on the Group

Third parties have asserted, and, in the future
may assert, claims aganst the Group alleging
that the Group infringes therr inteliectual
property nghts Defending such clasms may
be expensive, ime consuming and divert the
efforts of management and/or technical
personnel As a result of lirgation, the Group
could be required o pay damages and other
compensation, develop non-infnnging products
or technology or enter into royalty or
licensing agreements However, the Group
cannot be certain that any such licences, if
available at all, will be avallable to the Group
on commercially reasonable terms

5. Loss of major customers

The success of the Group will, to some
extent, be dependent on the continuation of
satisfactory commercial relationships with
the major customers of the Group There can
be no guarantee that these relationships will
continue satisfactorly in the future

6. Dependence on key executives

and personnel

The Group's future success 1s substantially
dependent on the continued services and
performance of its executive Directors and
senior management and its ability {o continue
to attract and retain highly skifled and quaified
personnel Althaugh measures are in place
and are under review to reward and retain
key indmduals and to protect the Group from
the impact of staft tumover, the Directors
cannot give assurances that members of the
senior management team and the executive
Burectors will continue to remain with the
Group. The loss of the seraces of the executve
Directors, members of semor management
and other key employees could damage the
Group's business

7 Growth and expansion risks

71 Availlability of surtable acquisition targets
The Group may not ke able to identfy and
acquire suitable targets for expansion of its
business |f the Group cannot successfully
identify, acquire, integrate and develop
targets for expansion of its business, it could
impact the Group’s ability to establish itsetf in
new markets and geographies and/or to
expand its product offerings This could have
a matenal adverse effect on the Group's
business and profitability In addition, the
Group may not be able to make acquisiions
on surtable terms, which may himit the
potential for creation of shareholder value

72 Risk of potental future acquisibions

In the future, as part of its growth strategy,
the Group may acquire other companies or
businesses Acquisitions by the Group may
involve the use of significant amounts of
cash, dilutive 1ssues of equity secunties and
the ncurrence of debt, each of which could
matenally and adversely affect the Group's
bustness, results of operations, financial
condition and/or the market price of ordinary
shares In addition, acquisitions involve
numerous risks, ncluding difficulties in the
assimilation of the operations of any acquired
business or company, the dversion of
management's attenton from other business
concerns and the inhentance of habilties

While Lupus Capital has made no ather
commitments or agreements with respect to
any acquisthon, if such an acquisition does
occur there can be no assurance that the
Group's business, resulis of operaticns or
financial conditton would not be maternally
and adversely affected thereby

73 Acceptability of ardinary shares

as consideration

Although Lupus Capital may wish to 1ssue
ardinary shares to salisfy all or part of any
consideration payable on future acquisitions,
vendors of sutable companies or businesses
may not be prepared to accept shares traded
on AlM or may not be prepared to accept
orchnary shares at the quoted market price
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Group business review continued

74 Management of growth and development
If the Group 1s to meet its strategic goals, it 15
likely to expenence raptd growth To manage
thus growth, the Group is hkely to have to
expand its management and financial controls,
which may strain its management and
operational resources The Group's expansion
of its management and financial controls are
likely to result in the incurnng of additional
costs, although the precise amount of such
costs 1s not readily quantifiable at present.
The Group's fallure to meet any growth or
development challenges could have a matenal
adverse effect on its results of operations

8. Exposure to increases in the price

of commodities and raw matenals and
supply chain failure

The raw matenals used in the Group's
businesses include commodities that
expenence price volatiity (such as ol
denvatves, steel, aluminum and ainc) caused by
changes i supply and demand, commodity
market fluctuations and changes in
governmental athitudes Competing
manufacturers can be aftected differently

by these factors If the Group 1s unable to
implement measures to mitigate increased
costs relating to increases in commodity and
raw matenal pnces, or to increase the prce
of its products to customers, its operating
profits rmght be matenally adversely affected

The Group’s abiity to delwer according to
market demands depends in large part on
obtaining bmely and adequate supplies of
components and raw matenals on
competitive terms Failure by any of the
Group's suppliers could interrupt its product
supply, and would significantly hmit the
Group's sales and increase its costs If the
Group falls fo anticipate customer demand
property, an over or undersupply of raw
materials components and production
capacity could occur In additton, a particular
component may be available only from a
hmited number of supphers Supplers may
from time to time extend lead times, ltmit
supphes or increase prices due o capacity
constraints or other factors, which could
adversely affect the Group's ability to delver
its products and solutions on a tmely basis

Despite the Group's efforts to select its
suppliers and manage supplier relatianships,
a component suppher may fall to meet the
Group's suppher requirements, such as, most
notably, the Group's and its customers’
product qualty, safety and other carresponding
standards Moreover, a supplier may expenence
delays or disruption to its manufacturing, or
expenence financial difficulhes Any of these
events could delay the successfut delivery of
products and solubons, which meet the
Group's and s customers' qualty, safety and
other corresponding requirements, or
otherwise adversely affect the Group's sales
and results of operations Also, the Group's
reputation and brand value may be affected
due to real or merely alleged failure in its
products and solutions

9. Taxation risks

Any change in Lupus Capital’s tax status or
n taxation legistation or accounting practice
could affect Lupus Capital's ability to provide
returns to its shareholders or alter the
post-tax returns to its shareholders

Any change n the taxation legislation or
accounting pracbee relating to employee
benefit trusts and employee management
meentive schemes could affect the
effectiveness of the share incentive
arrangements Lupus Capitat cannot
guarantee that sts shares will continue to
trade on AIM, rather than on a *recognised
stock exchange” such as the London Stock
Exchange, or that it will not in future have
other securities in1ssue which trade on such
an exchange In addition, a change in
taxation legislabon could affect the tax
regime that currently applies in respect of
shares admitted to trading on AlM

10 Environmental

The Group will be subject to environmental
and safety laws and regulations, including
those relating to the use of, disposat of, clean
up of, and human exposure to, hazardous
matenals The cost of comphance with these
and stmilar future regulations, could be
substantial The Group's operating businesses
use hazardous matenals as part of their
manufactunng processes The nsk of
accidental contarmination or injury from such
matenals cannot be elminated In the event
of such an incident, the resulting habiiies
could have an adverse impact on the Group

11 Dwvidends

Lupus Capital s a holding company and will
not conduct business of its own Drudends
from direct and indirect subsidianes are
expected to be Lupus Capital's sole source
of funds to pay expenses and dwvidends, If
any The inatility of Lupus Capital's direct
and indirect subsidianes to pay dwvtdends in
an amount sufficient to enable Lupus Capital
to meet iis cash requirements at the holding
company level could have a materal adverse
effect on its business and its abrlity to

pay dwidends

12. Foreign exchange

The Group 15 exposed to the nsk ansing from
movements n foreign exchange In parbeular
movements between the US doflar and the
pound and the euro and the pound, could
have a matenial adverse impact on the
Group's results The Group operates on a
global basis and i1s therefore also exposed fo
translational foreign exchange risk agamnst
the pound Given the Group's manufactunng
operations in Ningbg, China and its sourcing
operations from third party Chinese suppliers,
a part of the Group's revenue and expenses
will inewtably be denominated in Renminby
The value of the Renminty against the US
dollar and other currencies fluctuates and 1s
affected by, among other things, changes in
China’s political and economic conditions
Since 1994, the conversion of Reaminbs into
foreagn currencies, including Hong Kong and
US dollars, has been based on rates set by
the People's Bank of China.
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The exchange rate may become volatile and
the Renminb1 may be devalued against the
US dollar or other currencies, or the
Renminbi may be permitted to enter into a
full or hmited free float, which may resuli in
an appreciation in the value of the Renminty
against the US dollar, any of which could
have an uncertain effect on LSS operations
in China.

13. Overseas activities

The Group will be exposed to addibional nsks
related to operating i foreign countries
These risks may include export contrals
and/or other regulatory restrictions, the
impact of foreign taxes and other applicable
forergn regulation, an inability to repatnate
earnings on overseas sales, difficulty 1n
collecting debts, economic weakness or
political instabiity in foreign economies or
markets and difficutbes in managing
overseas activiies
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Directors and advisers

Executives

Greg Hutchings

Executive Chairman

Greg Hutchings (aged 61) became a direclor
and Executive Chairman on 16 February 2004

Mr Hutchings joined Tomkans plc in 1983 and
held the post of Chief Executive or Chairman
from January 1984 untl he stepped down in
Qctober 2000 Over the sixteen year penod
to 30 April 2000 Tomkins ple annuat profit
before tax and excephional items rose from
£16 million to £473 6 million with
uninterrupted growth, year on year, in
earungs per share. Compound growth in
earmings per share over this perod was
around 26 per cent per annurn and compound
growth of dwidends per share was over 24
per cent per annum In the year to 30 Apnl
2000 Tomkins plc earmings per share and
dwdends ncreased by 15 per cent.

Denis Muthall

Executive Director

Dems Muthall (aged 56) was appointed a
director on 23 February 2004 From 1988
to 1993 Mr Mulhali worked alongside

Mr Hutchings at Tomians plc. He left
Tomkans plc to join Berisford plc, firstly as
Chief Financial Officer and then Chief
Operating Officer, seeing the transformation
of the company from a shell to a market
capitahisation of £700 milhon Recently he
was Chief Financial Officer at Oxford
GlyeoSciences Plc

Non-executives

Frederic Hoad

Non-executive Director

Fredenc Hoad (aged 68) 1s currently a
non-executive director of a number of private
companies and an Awwva plc subsidiary
Before his retrement in 1996, he spent
28 years at Commercial Union, where,
amongst a number of sensor positions, he
was head of Corporate Finance, head of
Overseas Division Finance and head

of Private Equity Investment.

Michae! Jackson

Non-executive Director

Michael Jackson {aged 5B) has a degree in
Law from Cambridge University and 1s an
FCA. He was chairman of Sage Group plc
untit 2006, having been a director since
1983 He is a director of a number of
comparies, including Elderstreet
Investments, Netstore and MediaSurface
and 1s the non-executive chairman of Party
Gaming plc

Roland Tate

Non-executive Director

Roland Tale MA (Cantab) {aged 51) 1s
Managing Director of Tiger Corporate
Finance Ltd, an independent corporate
finance house speciahising in deal ongination
and equity finance which he formed in 2005
following several years with PWC and KPMG
where he was Director of Corporate Finance,
gaining considerable expenence in mergers
and acquisihons His early career involved
several years working in the chemcals, ol
ang gas sector at BP in both production and
commercial functions followed by five years
as mnvestment manager in the venture capital
sector with 3: and NVM and was appointed
non-executive director of several venture
capital backed businesses From 1995 he
spent 3 years as CEO of Nuventures Lid
commerciabsing intellectual property
emanating from academia. He s a fellow of
the Securiies and tnvestment insblute.

Adwisers
Secretary
Cavendish Administration Limited

Company humber
2806007

Registered office
Crusader House
145-157 5t John Street
London, EC1V 4RU

Auditors

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Grant Thornton House
Melton Street

London, NW1 2EP

Registrar

Capita Registrars Limited
The Regsiry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Keni, BR3 4TU

Nominated adviser and broker
MSBC Bank pic

8 Canada Square

London, E14 BHO

Website
www lupuscapital co uk
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report and the Group accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007

Review of the business

Principal activities

The Company 1s a holding company The principal actvities of its main operating subsidiaries are the manufacture, supply and distnbution of
bu:lding products and of goods to the ol and gas industres The Company's strategy 1s to build sharehclder value through the acquisition of
businesses with potential for development and the application of proven management skills and systems

Business Review
The business review I1s set out on pages 4 to 9

Future developments
The statement by the Chairman set out on pages 2 to 3 contains detalls of the progress of the Group dunng the year together with an
indication of future developments

Resuits and dividends

The Group profit for the year after taxation amounted to £12,242,000 (2006 £4,932,000) The directors are recommending the payment of
a final dvadend of 3 51p per share (2006 3 34p per share) absorbing £4,557000 (2006 £2,053,000) This recommended dividend s not
reflected in the financial statements If approved by shareholders, the final dividend will be paid an 14 July 2008 to shareholders on the
register at 8 May 2008 The aggregate ordinary dwdend for the year amounts to 5 57p per share (2006 4 97p per share)

The board
The directors histed on page 10 have held office dunng the fast financial year and in the subsequent penod to the date of this report, all held
office throughout the peried

Except for their shareholdings, the non-executive directors are entirely independent There were no contracts subsisting duning or at the end of
the year m which a director was or 15 matenally mterested The Company mantains a policy of insurance against directors’ and officers’ habidities

A descriphon of the Board's method of operation, its work dunng the year and that of its committees, 15 gven in the report on Corporate
Gavernance on pages 15 to 16

Re-election of directors
Mr Hoad and Mr Tate retire by rotation and, being elgible, will seek re-electon

Consolidation of share capital
At an extraordinary meeting of the Company held on 1t December 2007 it was resolved that the share capital of the Company be consclidated
fram ordinary shares of 05 pence nominal value o ordinary shares of © pence norminal value

Authority to purchase shares

Authority for the Company to purchase up to 20,568,008 ordinary shares in the market, representing 14 59% of the 1ssued ordinary share
caprtal of the Company was granted at an extraardinary meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2007 In the penod to 31 December
2007 the Company made or-market purchases of 1,309,675 shares These shares are held i Treasury
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Dairectors’ report continued

Directors’ interests

The directors’ nterests in the share capital, beneficially held, of the Company are set out below The shareholdings reflect the share
consolidabion approved by shareholders on 11 December 2007 and comparative shareholdings have been similarly adjusted for comparatve
purposes

3t Dacamber 2007 31 ecember 2006

Qrdinary shares Ordinary shares

Greg Hutchings 4,962,947 2,676,666
Denis Mulhall 865,000 475,000
Fredenc Hoad 53,333 53,333
Michael Jackson 85,873 85873
Roland Tate 72,268 58,641

Since 31 December 2007 37974 shares have been issued to Mr Jacksen and 37974 shares to Mr Tale (see note 21 of the notes to the Group
financial statements) Accordingly Mr Jackson's shareholding has increased to 123847 shares and Mr Tale’s to 110,242 shares

In addition, Mr Hutchings has non-beneficial interests in 392,000 shares

The trustees of the Lupus Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the lesot”) hold 5,122,851 shares under the employee incentive arrangements
descnbed in the circular dated 21 January 2004 and approved by shareholders on 18 February 2004 Of these, 4,753,926 were allotted on
26 March 2004 and have been allocated for the benefit of the family of Greg Hutchings, Executve Chairman of the Campany 1,584,642
were purchased and allotted on 4 Apnl 2006 On 6 July 2007 1,215,615 shares were bought by a penston account for the benefit of

Greg Hutchings

Directors' Remuneration

The Company, being quoted on AIM, 1s not required to comply with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 or the disclosure
provisions of Schedule 7A of the Comparies Act 1985 and the UKLA Listing Rules Nevertheless, the Company has chosen to present a
report on directors’ remuneration on pages 17 to 18 The directors have also determined, on a voluntary basis, that this report should be
submitted to shareholders for their approval This s resolution 7 in the Notice of Meeting

The Company's articles currently provide that the remuneration of the directors, both executive and non-executive, must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of shareholders Such an approval 1s unusual and has inadvertently been overlooked by the Company since the
implementation of the current arlicles of associabon in 1996 (although shareholders have on a number of occasions approved remuneration or
remuneratbon reports on a retrospective basis) It 1s now common practice for (a) the remuneration of executive directars to be determined by
the board or any committee authonsed by the board without shareholder involvement and (b) the fees of non-executve directors to be
determined by the board, but prowided that the amount must not exceed a maximum amount approved by shareholders In the light of the
above, the directors propose

a} By means of resolution 12, a special resolution, to delete the existing articte 83 and to replace it by a new article 83 that will bning the
Company's position into line with common practice

b) By means of resolution 8, an ordinary resolution, to ratify and confirm the remuneration payments made to directors in respect of the whole
penad when the previous article 83 was in force

Allotment of shares
Shareholders passed resolubions to authonse the directors to allot shares and, within certain imitations, to do so free from pre-emption nghts
at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 11 December 2007

The directors’ authonty to allot shares does not expire until 11 December 2012 The disapplication of pre-emption nghts is only effective until
the conclusion of the Company's 2008 AGM The directors believe that the Company's proceedings will be more transparent if they seek
renewed authonity to allot at the same time as they seek authonty to disapply pre-emption nghts

Therefore, the Notice of Meeting includes resoiution 9, which will authorise the directors to allot shares (subject to specified hmits) untit
1 July 2013, and resolution 10, a special resclution, which will authonise the directors to disapply pre-emption nghts (in certain circumstances
and subject {o specified imits) until the conclusion of the Company's 2000 AGM
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Purchase of the Company’s own shares

Shareholders passed a resclution to authonse the Company to purchase its own shares up to a maximum of 14 99% of the Company's 1ssued
ordinary share capital at the EGM on 11 December 2007 This authonty expires on 11 December 2008 The directors beheve that itis in the
best inferests of the Company to obtain a new authonty for this purpose that extends beyond 11 December 2008 and therefore propose
resolution 11 for thus purpose The authonty will be kmited to 14 89% of voting shares n issue (that i, excluding shares held in Treasury)
Resolution 1115 proposed as a special resolution, In accordance with best practice

Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Compamnes Act 20086 introduces new provisions relating to conflicts of interest, and in particular provides that directors will only be able to
authonse conflicts where the articles of assomation give the directors express power to do so In the Iight of this, the directors recommend that
a new article 89, which among other things provides the directars with the express power to authonse conflicts, be substituted for the existing

article 89 This 1s resolution 13 in the Notice of Meeting

Other matters

Auditors

In accordance with sechon 385 of the Comparnies Act 1985, an ordinary resclution to re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditors will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting, this 1s item 5 i the Notice of Meeting

Substantial shareholders

In addition to the holdings of certain of the directors and of the tesot descnbed above, at the latest practicable date before publication of this
report the Company had been notified of, or had identified, the following direct or indirect interests compnsing 3% or more of its 1ssued
share capital

Ord nary shares %
F & C Asset Management 15,022,450 16
Aviva 10,316,366 79
Schroder Asset Management 7994084 61
Polar Capital 7.940,604 61
Invesco Asset Management 5,118,069 39
Cazenove Capital Management 4,298,473 33

Creditors payment policy

Group operating compames are responsible for agreeing the terms and conditions under which business transactrons with thetr suppliers are
conducted It1s Group policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions Creditor days for the
Group have been calculated at 48 days

Financial risk management
A statement on the financal nsk management objectives, policies and other matters in relation o the use of financral instruments 1s set out n
note 19 1n the notes to the Group financial statements

Safety, health and the environment

The Board recognises that the highest standards in safety, health and environmental 1ssues are an essential part of sound business practice
The Board 1s committed to improving the impact on the environment from any of its operations and to incorporating the principles of
sustainable development.
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Directors’ report continued

Employees

The Group's excellent performance would not be possible without employees of the highest calibre with the motivaticn to perform to thesr full
potential The Group operates on a decentrahised structure, reflecting the orgamisation of the Group This underscores our belief that localised
teams, operating under common principles, are best equipped to deal with the varying cultures, operating structures and geographic locations
that exist in the Group

Each operating entity n the Group 1s encouraged to implement comprehensive employment policies designed to motivate employees and to
determine ways in which ther knowledge and skills can best contribute towards the success of the business

Employee nvolvement and communication programmes continue to be developed that are designed to prawide equal opportunity to all,
irrespective of sex, race, religion or colour Each company in the Group endeavours to provide equaltty of opportumty in recruiting, traning,
promoting and developing the careers of disabled people

Golng concern
After making enquines, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeabfe future and accordingly they have adopted the gang concern basis in preparing the accounts

By order of the Board
Cavendish Administration Limited

Company Secretary
30 May 2008

T Ll
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Corporate governance

The directors acknowledge the importance of the Principles set cut in the Combined Code, as 1ssued in revised form in 2006 by the Finanaial
Reporting Council, and have put In place a framework for corporate governance which it believes :s approprate for the Company

The Company, being quoted on AIM, 1s not required to comply with the provisions of the Cominned Code, but has chosen to make the following
voluntary disclosures

The board

Board composition

The Board comprises two executve and three non-execulive directors Mr Hutchings was appointed Executive Chairman on 16 February 2004
and Mr Mulhall has served as an executive director since 23 February 2004 Mr Hoad and Mr Tate have served as non-executive directors since
November 2002 Mr Jackson joined the Board as a non-executive director on 17 November 2006. Mr Hoad 1s the senior non-executive director

Both Mr Hutchings and Mr Mulhalt are engaged full-time on the Company's business and have no cutside interests that confhct with ther
responsibilities to the Company Mr Mulhall s a non-executve director of RingProp plc and RingProp Trading Ltd, in solvent iiquidation
All non-executive directors are independent

How the board operates

The Board meets regularly and is respansible for strategy, performance and the framework of internal controls The Board has a formal
schedule of matters specifically reserved to 1t for dewsion Responsibibty for the day-to-day operational management of Gall Thamson
Enwironmental Limited, the Schieget compames and the LSS compantes 1s delegated to the directors of those comparies To enable the Board
to discharge its duties, all direclars receive appropnate and timely information The Company Secretary distributes briefing papers to afl
directors n advance of Board meetings All directors have access to the advice and services of the corporate Company Secretary, which 1s
responsible far ensunng that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with The appointment and
removal of the Company Secretary 1s a matter for the Board as a whole In addition, procedures are in place to enable the directors ta obtain
independent professional advice in the furtherance of ther duties, if necessary, at the Company's expense

Board meetings
During the year ended 31 December 2007, there were six meetings of the Board Participation in the meetings was as follows
Mr Hoad, six meetings, Mr Hutchings, six meetings, Mr Jackson four meetings, Mr Mulhall, six meetings, and Mr Tale, five meetings

Re-election of directors
All dwectors are subject to re-election by the shareholders at Annual General Meelings at a maximum interval of three years The Articles of
Assocration provide that directors appointed by the Board will be subject to re-~efection at the first AGM thereafter

Remuneration
A report on directors' remuneration i1s included on pages 17 to 18

Board committees

The Board has formed an Audit and Corporate Governance Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nominations Commttee, each
compnsed of all ndependent, non-executive directors The existence of the committees ensures that ime 1s allocated on a formal basis to
consider relevant issues

Audit and corporate governance committee

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee is made up of the non-executve directors and meets at least twice a year The chairman and
executive director also attend all meetings of the committee The cammitiee considers the appontment and fees of the external auditors and
discusses the scope of the audit and s findings The Commuttee 1s also responsible for monitonng comphance with accounting and legal
requirements and for reviewing the annual and interim financial statements Trus commitiee 1s chared by Mr Hoad

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2007 the Committee held three meetings Mr Hutchings, Mr Mulhall, Mr Hoad and Mr Tate each attended
all three meetings Mr Jackson attended two meetings

The Audit Committee also reviews any non-audit services provided by the auditors Such semices have been, and are, fimited to the prowision of
transaction support services, tax comphance work and tax advice The Committee 1s satisfied that the provision of such services does not in
any way prejudice the objectivmty and independence of the auditor Professtonal firms, other than the audrtors provide tax compliance wark and
tax advice
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Corporate governance continued

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee considers and approves the remuneration and benefits {if any) of the directors The Committee also determines
the remuneration of the directors of the Schlegel companies, of Gall Thomson, of LSS companies and of the service providers contracted to
perform executive functions for the Group as well as long term share incentive and share option schemes for all employees

The membership and work of the Commuttee during the year ended 31 December 2007 1s descnbed in detall in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report cn pages 17 to 18

Nominations committee
The Nominahons Committee identifies and nominates candidates for the office of director of the Company It meets as and when required and
15 chaired by Mr Tate The Committee did not meet dunng the year ended 31 December 2007

Intarnal control
The directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the Group's system of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness of those
controls The Board, including the executive directors, reviews the internal control framewaork on an ongoing basis

Procedures have been developed to safeguard assets against unauthonised use or disposition of assets and to maintain proper accounting
records to provide reliable financial nformation both for internal use and for publication In accordance with the guwidance of the Turnbull
Cormmittee on mteral control, the procedures are regularly reviewed in the hight of an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage the
sigrificant nsks faced by the Company The process has been in place for the full year under review and up to the date of the approval of the
annual report and financial statements The procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate nsk and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss

Relations with shareholders
Communications with shareholders are given hugh pnonty and there 15 a regular dialogue with institutional shareholders

The Board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate with pnivate and institutional investors and welcomes their participation Details
of resoluttons to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 2 July 2008 can be found in the Notice of the Meeting on page 61

The Company has set up a website wwwiupuscapital co uk which shareholders, investors and other interested parties may access The website
permits users to download copies of published financial reports, press releases and Stock Exchange announcements

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
Internaitonal Financial Reparting Standards adopted by the European Unton The parent company financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with apphcable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the state of affarrs
of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and the Company for that penod in preparing these financial statements,
the directors are required to

* select suitable accounting palicies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgments and eshmates that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements, and

+  prepare the financial statements on the going concem hasis unless it 1s nappropnate to presume that the Company will continue in business

In so far as the directors are aware

+ there s no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and
+ the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to estabhish
that the auditors are aware of that nformation

The directars are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any ime the financial position
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Compames Act 1985 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

The dwectors are responsible for the mainienance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's website
Legislabion in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissermination of financial statemenis may differ from legislabion in other junsdictions.
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Directors’ remuneration report

The Company, being quoted on AIM, 15 not required to comply with the Cirectors Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 or the disclosure
prowisions of Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985 and the UKLA Listing Rules, but has chosen to make the following voluntary
unaudited disclosures

Remuneration committee and advisers
The Remuneration Committee of the Board compnses all independent non-executve directors of the Company it 1s charred by Mr Hoad and 1s
responsible for determining and reviewing the terms of appointment and the remuneration of the directors of the Company

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2007, the Committee met once Mr Hoad, Mr Tate and Mr Jackson attended the meeting Mr Hutchings
and Mr Mulhall were present as observers

The Remuneration Committee may utilise independent advice when it considers it appropriate No such adwvice was taken dunng the year
ended 31 December 2007

Remuneration policy
The Company's palicy 15 to pay remuneration to directors at a tevel consistent with therr responsibiiies and with the scope of the Group

The Remuneration Commuttee reviewed the remuneration of both the executive and non-executive directors duning the year ended

31 December 2007 I concluded that the further considerable expansion of the Group’s size and aclivities consequent upon the Laird
acquisihon made 1t appropnate to increase the levels of remuneration The decision was taken to increase the salanes of Mr Hutchings to
£425,000 per year and that of Mr Mulhall to £300,000 per year, with effect from 1 May 2007 In addition, bonuses were awarded of £250,000
to Mr Hutehings and £120,000 to Mr Mulhall

it was further agreed to increase the fees of the non-executive directors each to £30,000 per year fram 1 May 2007

Service agreements

Under the terms of ther service agreements Mr Hutchings and Mr Mulhall are entitled, in addition to thewr annual salanes, to membership of a
private medicat expenses arrangement and permanent health insurance cover They are entitled to participate from time to time in any bonus
arrangements the Board may establish These agreements are terminable on not less than 12 months' notice by erther party

The non-executive directors have letters of appointment, which prowide a notice peniod of one month All directors are subject to re-election by
shareholders at a maximum interval of three years

Remuneration
The remuneration payable in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 was as follows

Total Total

Salary/ fees Bonus Benefits 2007 2006

£7000 £000 £'000 £000 £000

Greg Hutchings 367 250 25 642 368
Denis Mulhall 265 120 2 387 247
Frederc Hoad 27 - - 27 19
Michael Jackson 28 - - 28 3
Roland Tate 27 - - 27 19

Total 74 370 27 1111 656
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Payment of remuneration in shares

Mr Jackson and Mr Tate agreed on 17 November 2007 to take payment of therr fees in shares of the Company The relevant letters of agreement
stated that ther entitlement to fees each of £30,000 for the periods of 12 months commencing on 17 November 2007 and 1 November 2007
respectively, would be satisfied by the 1ssue to them of new ordinary shares in the company, upon the same terms as previously

Pursuant to these agreements, 37484 new ordinary shares were 1ssued to Mr Jackson and to Mr Tate on 17 January 2008, by reference to
the closing rd-market pnice of the shares on 16 fanuary 2008

Bonus schames

The service agreements of the executive directors include prowision for possible cash bonus scheme arrangements Any such schemes will
be performance-related and the level of performance bonus will be deterrmined by the remuneration commitiee in accordance with generally
accepted practice,

Pensions
Ouring 2007 there were no defined benefit pension entitlernents and no pension payments were made in respect of the directors

By order of the Board
Cavendish Administration Limited

Company Secretary
30 May 2008

<o (_,J‘J-’g”‘
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Report of the independent auditors to the members of Lupus Capital plc

We have audited the group financial statements of Lupus Capttal plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which compnse the principal
accounting policies, the group income statement, the group balance sheet, the group cash flow statement, the group statement of recognised
income and expense and notes 1 to 28, These group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting pobicies set out therein

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Lupus Capital plc for the year ended 31 December 2007

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 236 of the Companies Act 1985 Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’'s members those matters we are required to state to themn in an auditors’ report
and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opiruions we have formed

Respective responsibilities ot directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilibies for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out n the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audit the group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and international
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our apinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and farr ew, and whether the group financial statements
have been properly prepared n accordance with the Companies Act 1988 We also report to you whether in our opinton the information given
in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements The information given in the Directors' Report includes that specific
information presented in the Charman's statement that 1s cross referenced from the business rewiew section of the Director's Report.

tn addition we also report to you f, in our epinton, if we have not received all the mformation and explanations we require for our audit, orf
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contained m the Annual Report and consider whether it 1s consistent with the audited group financial statements
The other infgrmation compnises only the Directors' Repart, Corporate Governance Statement, Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Charrman’s Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal
mconsistencies with the group financial statements Qur responsibilities do not extend to any other information

Basls of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and !reland) 1ssued by the Auditing Practces Board

An audit includes examinatton, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the group financial statements It also
ncludes an assessmeni of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the group financial statements,
and of whether the accountting policies are appropriate to the group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient ewidence {0 give reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are free from matenal rmisstatement, whether caused
by fraud or other iregularity or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
group financial statements

Opinion
In our cpirion

the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the
group's affars as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended,

+  the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Comparies Act 1985, and

+ the information given in the Directors’ Repart 1s consistent with the financial statements

Grant Thornton UK LLP Q,“k Thorntan Wk LLP
Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountants

London

30 May 2008
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Group income statement
For the year ended 3t December 2007

2007 2006
£'000 £000
Noe {reszated)
Revenue 4 216,859 62,940
Cost of sales (142,675) (22,434)
Gross profit 74,184 40,508
Administrative expenses (51,4681) (31,068)
Operating profit 8 22,723 9,438
Analysed as
Operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of intangible assets 31,857 11,567
Excephonal tems 5 (1,385) -
Amortisation of intangible assets (7,749) (2,120)
Operating profit 22,723 9,438
Finance ncome 8 1,888 501
Finance costs 8 (9,241} (2,034)
Net finance costs (7,353) {1,533)
Profit before taxation 15,370 7905
Income tax expense 9 {3,128) (2,973)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 12,242 4,932
Earnings per share
- Basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations 10 10.68p 9 49p’
All results relate to continuing operations
1007 2006
£1000 £000
Noe {res a‘ed)
Non GAAP measure
Adjusted® profit before taxation 25,021 10,034
Earnings per share
- Adjusted? basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations 10 14.82p 12 35p!

' The 2006 earnings per share has been restated for the share consoldation in December 2007

2 Before amortisation of acquired intangible assets, deferred tax on amortisation of intangible assets, exceptional tems, unwinding of discount

on prowisions, and the associated tax effect
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Group statement of recogmsed income and expense
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
050 £1000
Note (restated)
Actuanal (losses)/gains on defined benefit plans {159) 622
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations {148) {1,653)
Effective portion of changes in value of cashflow hedges 14 (1,546) -
Tax on items recogrised directly in equity 9 54 (N7)
Income and expense recognised directty in equity (1,799) (1,248)
Profit for the penod 12,242 4932
Total recognised Income and expense for the penod
~ attributable to equity shareholders of the company 22 10,443 3,684
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Group balance sheet :
As at 31 December 2007

T T T T

o~ P 1'4?‘ B
c}“ T4 .-‘_ ~
2007 2006
£'000 £000
Note (restated)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
intangible assets 11 306,345 80,774
Property, plant and equipment 12 36,325 13,030
Deferred tax 9 6,611 6,078
349,281 99,882
Current assets
Inventornies 13 35,261 7395
Trade and other recevables 15 36,755 1,210
Cash and cash equivalents 23 46,969 9,738
118,985 32344
TOTAL ASSETS 468,266 132,226
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Current tax payable (3,743) (1453)
Trade and other payables 16 (57,974) (14867}
Finance lease obligations 17 (188) (156)
Interest beaning loans and borrowings 17 (16,694) (4,938)
(78,599) (21514)
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease obligations 17 (214) (339)
Deferred tax 9 (25,315) (7828)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 (129,865) (27296)
Employee benefit hiability 20 (3,497 (3,290)
Provisions 18 (20,892) (1868)
Dervative financial instruments 14 (1,546) -
Other payables (1,206) (115}
(182,535) (40731
TOTAL LIABILITIES (261,134) (62,245)
NET ASSETS 207,132 69,581
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company
Called up share capital 2 6,861 3,083
Share premium 22 45 45
Other reserves 22 10,389 10,388
Hedging reserve 22 (1,546) -
Translation reserve 22 (1,801) (1653)
Retained earnings 22 193,184 58,117
TOTAL EQUITY 207,132 65,981

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 30 May 2008 and signed on its behalf by

Greg Hutchings
Chairman

Denis Mulhall

Drrector W
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Group cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
£000 £000
Noie (restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 22,723 9,438
Deprectation 6 4,702 1,646
Amartisation 6 7,749 2129
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment {12) -
Movement in inventones 1,173 1,698
Movement in trade and other receivables 11,665 1,384
Movement in trade and cther payables 3,267 619
Movement in provisions 1,110 -
Income tax paid {6,492) (2,050}
Net cash inflow from operating activities 45,885 14,874
Investing actlvities
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (3,918} 964)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 3 (239,397) (47,408)
Interest raceved 1,867 501
Net cash outflow from investing activities (241,448) (47871
Financing activities
Proceeds from share 1ssue, net of costs 131,536 51,653
Purchase of treasury shares (1,075) -
Equity dvidends paid (3,753) (1,234)
New borrowings 119,064 34734
interest paid (7172) (2,034)
Repayment of long term barrowings - (40,281)
Repayment of short term borrowings {5,000) {2,500)
Repayment of capiial element of finance leases (88) (12
Net cash inflow from financing activities 233,512 40,226
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 37,949 7229
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (718) (145)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 9,738 2,654
Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 23 46,969 9738
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Basis of preparation and accounting policies

The Group's consohdated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the pnncipal accounting policies adopted by the Group as
set out in note 2 and International Financial Reporting Standards (*IFRS") and International Financial Reporting Interpretations (“IFRIC”) as
adopted for use in the European Union (EU), with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under {FRS.

The comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2008 was previously reported under applicable UK accounting standards
(UK GAAP) and has been restated where necessary, and reconciled with UK GAAP in note 28

The relevant changes to accounting policies are as follows

Intangible assets

Under IFRS certain intangible assets that exist as a result of a business combinatron are recognised separately from goodwill if they are
separable and measurable. As such with respect to the Schlegel acquisiion £8,400,000 in respect of brands and £19,800,000 n respect
of customer relatonships have been recognised separately from goodwill and £2,129,000 has been charged in respect of amortisation of
these assets for the penod from date of acquisitian to 31 December 2006. Under UK GAAP there were no separate intangible assets
identified and hence all such amounts therefore form part of goodwill and are not then amortised

Deferred tax

Under iFRS deferred tax 1s prowided for the difference between the book value of the intangible assets ansing as a result of the
acquisition of Schiegel and the tax base of these assets with the corresponding entry being made to goodwill The deferred tax provided
on acquistion was £8,460,000 and £632,000 has been released {o the profit and loss account as a result of the amount charged in the
penod from date of acquisition to 31 December 2006

Computer software
A reallacation of £31,000 of computer software costs from tangible assets under UK GAAP to intangible assets under IFRS has been made.

These accouniing policies have been consistently applied to all the perods presented unless otherwise stated, except as identified below

As explained above, the Group's deemed transihon date to {IFRS 1s 1 January 2006 The rules for first-time adoption of IFRS are set out
in IFRS 1 {FRS 1 allows certain exemptions in the application of particular standards to prior penods in order to assist companies with the
transition pracess The Group has applied the following exemptions

{FRS 3 - *Business Combinations” 1s appled from 1 January 2006 and not retraspectively ta earlier business combinations

IAS 21 — *The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” is applied from 1 January 2006 and not retraspectively to cumulative
translation differences on translation of foreign operations

Summary of significant accounting policies

Accounting convention

The financral statements are prepared under the historic cost convention, except they have been modified to include the revaluation of
certain financial assets and babihbes The measurement basis and significant accounting policies are set out below

Basis of consolidation
The historical financial information consolidates the Company and its subsidrary undertakings drawn up to 31 December each year The
financial statements of the subsidianes are prepared as of the same reporting date as the parent, using consistent accounting policies

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control over financial and operating policies 1s transferred to the Group and
continue to be consolidated unti the date that such control ceases

All business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method The cost of a business combination 1s measured as the
aggregate of the fair values, at the acquisiton date, of any assets given, habilities incurred or assumed, including contingent liabiities, and
equity instruments issued by the Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the combination The identiiable assets and hiabilibes of the
acquiree are measured inttially at farr value at the acquisition date The excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's
nterest in the net far value of the identifrable assets, ncluding those of an tangible and tangible nature, biabiibies and contingent
habilities 1s recognised as goodwill

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are elminated Unrealised losses
are also eliminated but are considered an impairment indicator of the assel transferred Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group
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Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Recent accounting developments

During the year, the 1ASB and IFRIC have 1ssued the following standards and interpretations wath effective dates after the date of these
financial statements that have not yet been adopted by the Company

1AS 1 {revised) ‘Presentation of Financial Statements” - effective date 1 January 2009

1AS 23 (revised) “Borrowing Costs” — effectve date 1 January 2009

1AS 27 {revised) *Consohdated and Separate Financial Statements® — effective date 1 July 2009
IAS 32 (rewrsed) "Financial Instruments — Presentaton” — effective date 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 {revised) *Share Based Payments® ~ effectve date 1 January 2000
IFRS 3 {revised) *Business Combinations” — effective date 1 July 2009

IFRS 8 "Operating Segments” — effective date 1 January 2009

IFRIC 11 *Group and Treasury Share Transactons” — effective date 1 March 2007

IFRIC 12 *Service Concession Arrangements” — effective date 1 January 2008

IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” — effectve date 1 July 2008

IFRIC 14 “The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset Mimmum Funding Requirements and therr interaction” -

effective date 1 January 2008

The directors do not anticipate that the adopton of these standards and interpretations will have a matenai impact on the Group's
reported results in the penod of initial apphcation

Principal accounting policies

The preparaton of finanaial statements in confarmity with generally accepted accounting policies requires the directors to make
judgments and assumptions that affect the reparted amounts of assets and habibies and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the
financial stalements and the reported income and expense during the reporling penods

Although the judgments and assumptions are based on the directors' best knowledge of the amount, events or actions, actual resulls may
differ from these estimates

The accounting policies set out below have been used to prepare the financial iInformation

Goodwill

Goodwill, being the difference between the fair value of consideration paid for new interests in Group companies and the farr value of the
Group's share of their net dentifiable assets and contngent liabiites at the date of acquisiton, 1s capitalised Goodwill represents
consideration paid by the Group in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets that are not capable of being indmidually identified
and separately recognised

Goodwill 1s not amortised but 1s subject to an impairment review on an annual basis or more frequently when events or changes in
circumstances indicate it might be impaired Any impairment is charged to the income statement in the period in which it anses

Intangible assets
On acquisition of Group companies, the Group recogmises any separately idenhifiable mtangible assets separately from goodwll, initially
measunng the intangible assets at fair value

Purchased intangible assets acquired through a business combmnation, including purchased brands, customer relationships, trademarks
and licenses, are capitalised at farr value and amortised on a straight-line basis over therr eshmated useful economic lives, as follows

Acquired brands — 5 years to indefirute
Customer relationships — 9 to 16 years
Trade marks and kcenses — 3 {o 4 years

The Group capitalises acquired computer software at cost. Computer software 1s amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful ife, up to 3 years The carrying value of intangible assets with a finite hife 1s reviewed for imparment whenever events or changes in
arrcurstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable




28 Lupus Capital plc Annual Report & Accounts 2007

Notes to the Group financial statements continued

2.

Summary of significant accounting policles continued

Impairment of assets

Goodwilt ansing on business combinations 15 allocated to cash-generating units (equvalent to the reported primary business segments)
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated 1s tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when events or changes in circumstance indicate that it might be impaired Goodwill that has been impared previously cannot
be reversed at a later date

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with finite Iives are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstance indicate the carnyng value may be impaired If any such indicabion exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s
estmated in order to determine the extent of impairment loss

Where purchased intangible assets are considered by the Board of Directors to have an indefinite hife, they are not amortised but are
subject to an impairment review on an annual basts or more frequently If necessary Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for imparment annually

An impairment review 1s performed by companng the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment or intangible asset or goodwill
with its recoverable amount, being the higher of the farr value less costs to sell and value in use The far value iess costs to sell 1s the
amount that could be obtained on disposal of the asset The value in use 1s determined by discounting, using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the asset, the expected future cash flows
resulting from its contnued use, including those on final disposal Impairment losses are recogrised in the mcome statement immediately
Where it s not possible o estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate discounted future cash flows
Accordingly, actual cash flows could vary considerably fram forecast cash flows Impairment reversals are permitted to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets (but not goodwill) to the extent that the new carrying value does not exceed the amount it would have
been had no impairment loss been previously recognised

Segment reporting

The Group's continuing operations are dvided nto two business segments, Ol services and Bullding products The group’s primary
reparting format 1s business segments and its secondary format s geographical segments A business segment i1s a component of the
Group that 1s engaged in providing a group of related products and is subject to nsks and returns that are different from those of the
other segments A gecgraphical segment 1s a component of the Group that operates within a particular economic environment and 15
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments

Revenue

Revenue 15 recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be rehably
measured Revenue represents amounts recevable for goods provided or the value of work completed for customers during the year in
the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes As such revenue from the sale of goods 15
recogrused when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispaich of the goods

Cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand as welt as short-term highly iquid investments such as money market
instruments and bank deposits Maney market instruments are financial assets carned at farr value through profit or loss

Interest bearing bank loans and borrowings
Interest beanng bank loans and overdrafts are recorded inibally at fair value less directly atiributable transacton costs After inibal
recogrution, interest beaning loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Gains and lpsses are recognised in the income statement when the habilities are derecognised as well as through the amorbisation process

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation and impawrment. Depreciation is provided on all assets except freehold
land at rates calculated to write off the cost less estimated residual value of each asset on a straight-hne basis over its expected useful
life, at the following annual rates

Freehold land — not depreciated
Freehold buldings — 2% to 5%
Plant and equipment — 756% to 33%
Motor vehicles ~ 20% to 25%

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment pencdically if events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying vatue may not be recoverable The assets' residual values, useful lves and method of depreciation are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropnate, at each financial year end
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies continued

inventcenes

Inventones are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost includes cost of matenals determined on a purchase cost basis,
direct labour and an appropnate proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal level of actmty on a first i, first out basis Net
reahsable value 1s based on estimated selling prices, less further costs expected to be incurred to comptetion and disposal

Leases

Where the group has substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of an asset subject to a lease, the lease is treated as a finance
lease Assets held under finance leases and similar contracts which confer the nghts and oblkgations similar to thase attached to owned
assets are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the present value of the minmum lease payments Lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charges and reduction of the lease habilty so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the hability Finance charges are reflected in the income statement.

All other leases are treated as operating leases, and rentals payable are charged to the income statement account on a straight bne basis
over the lease term

Foreign currencies

The indvidual financral statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the pnmary economic environment in which the
entity operates (its functional currency) For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial posihion of
each enhty are expressed in Pounds Sterling which 1s the functional currency of the Group and the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements

In indwvidual companies, transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transacton
Monetary assets and habiliies n foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date Any resulting
exchange differences are laken to the income statement, except where hedge accounting 1s apphed In these circumstances exchange
differences are taken directly to equity until erther the disposal of the hedging instrument, at which time they are recogrised in the income
statement.

On consolidation, assets and habilikes of Group companies denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange
rate prevailing at the balance sheet date Income and expense items are transfated into sterling at the average rates for the year

Exchange differences ansing on the translation of opening net assets of Group companies, together with differences ansing from the
translation of the net resuits at average or actual rates to the exchange rate prevaiing at the balance sheet date, are taken to equity
On disposal of a foreign enbly, the deferred accumulated amount recogrised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation 1s
recogrused in the income statement,

Provisions

Prowsions are recognised

+ when the Group has a present legal or constructive obhigation as a result of a past event,
«1t1s probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the gbhigaton,

+ and the amount has been reliably estimated

Restructuring provisions compnse lease termination penatties and employee termination payments

Prowsions are determined at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-iax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the obligation The ncrease in the provision
due to the passage of ime 1s recognised as nterest expense

Pensions and other post employment benefits
The Group operates a defined contnbution pension and a defined benefit scheme

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit scheme 15 determined using the projected umit credit actuanal valuation method
The operating and financing costs of the pension scheme are charged to the income statement in the penod in which they anse and are
recogrised separately The costs of past service benefit enhancements, settlements and curtadments are also recognised in the penod in
which they anse The past service cost is recognised as an expense on a straight ine basis over the average penod until the benefits
become vested If the benefits are already vested immediately followtng the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, past service
costs are recognised immediately Actuanal gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of recogrised income and
expenditure The net surplus or deficit 15 presented within the other net assets on the balance sheet, The related deferred tax 15 shown
within the other deferred tax balances
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Notes to the Group financial statements conunued

2

Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Pensions and other post employment benefits continued

The defined benefit assets and kability comprise the present value of the defined benefit obligations less the past service cost not yet
recognised and less the farr value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly The value of any assets is restncted
to the sum of any past semce costs not yet recognised and the present value of any economic benefit available in the form of refunds
from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan

Contrbutions to the defined contnbution scheme are charged to the income statement as incurred

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity share capual {treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly
atinbutable incremental costs (net of ncome taxes) s deducted from equity attnbutable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration recewed, net of any drrectly attnoutable
incremental fransachion costs and the related income tax effects, 1s included in equity atinbutable to the Company’s equity holders

Financial assets, liabilities and derivatives
Financial assets and liabilities are recogmsed on the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the nstrument and are generally derecogmised when the contract that gives nse to it 1s settled, sold, cancelfed or expires

Trade recesvables are recogmised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method, less appropniate allowances for estmated irrecoverable amounts Trade payables are recagnised imbally at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

Pravision against trade receivables 1s made when there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect on amounts due to
itin accordance with the onginal terms of those recevables The amount of the wnite down 1s determined as the ditference between the
carrying amount and present value of estmated future cash flow

Derwative financial instruments are inhially recognised at fair value on the date on which a denvative contract 1s entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at far value Denvatives are carned as assets when farr value 1s positive and as habilibes when farr value s negative

IAS 39 — *Financial Instruments Recogmition and Measurement” requires specific accounting treatment for derivatives that are
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge refationships To quahfy for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet
several strict conditions with respect to documentation, probability of occurrence, hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. All
other dervatbive financial instruments are accounted for at farr value to profit or loss

For the reporting periods under review the Group has designated certain interest rate swap and cap contracts as hedging instruments in
cash flow hedge relatonships These relationships have been entered into to mitigate interest rate nsk ansing from certain loan
arrangements For the period under review this results in the recognition of financial assets and habihties, which are presented under
*Dervative financial instruments” on the face of the batance sheet.

To the extent that the hedge 15 effective, changes in the far value of denvatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges
are reported in equity and recycled when the hedge relationship ceases At the time the hedged stem affects proht or loss, any gain or loss
previously recognised in equity 1s released to the income statements Any ineffectiveness i the hedge relationship 1s charged immed:ately
to the income statement.

Deferred taxation
Income fax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income statement
because it excludes stems of income or expense that are taxable or deducttble in other years and it further excludes stems that are never

taxable or deductible. The Group's lability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
lhe balance sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and habilibes
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit and 15 accounted for using the
balance sheet hability method Deferred income tax habilitres are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recogrised to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be avalable against which deductible temporary
differences can be utihsed Such assets and liabilbes are nct recogmsed if the temporary difierence anses from goodwill or from the
initial recogmbion {other than n a business combination) of other assets and habilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit
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Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Deferred taxation continued

Deferred income tax irabilities are recogrised for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group 15 able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 15 probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be avarlable to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred income tax s calculated at the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet dates and that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability 1s settled or the asset realised Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity

Deferred income tax assets and habilihes are offset when they relate to ;ncome taxes leviad by the same taxation authonty and the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and habihhes on a net basis

Exceptional items

The Group presents as excephional items on the face of the income statement, those material tems of iIncome and expense which,
because of the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving nse to them, ment separate presentation to allow shareholders to
understand better the elements of financral performance in the year, so as to faciltate companson with prior periods and to assess better
trends in financial performance

Share-based payments
All share-based arrangements are recogrised at fair value in the consohidated financial statements The Group operates equity-settled
share-based remuneration plans far remuneration of certain employees

All employee services receved in exchange for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at therr far values

All share-based remuneration 1s ultimately recogmsed as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding credit to equity, net of
deferred tax where applicable

Nornt GAAP measure accounting policy

The directors beheve that the *adjusted” profit and earrings per share measures provide additional useful informabon to shareholders on
the underlying performance of the business These measures are consistent with how business performance 1s measured internally The
adjusted profit before tax measure is not a recogmsed measure under IFRS and may not be comparable with “‘adjusted” profit measures
used by other companies The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are {o include the following

« exceplional income and charges These are largely one-off in nature and therefore create volatiity in reported earmings, and
= amortisatton of intangible items because of their nan-cash nature and expected infrequency of the events gming nise to them

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concering the future, and other key saurces of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant
nsk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assels and labilihes within the next financial year, are discussed below

Imparment of goodwill and other intangible assets

There are a number of assumptions management have considered in performing imparrment reviews of goodwill and intangible assets
In determining whether goodwill 1s impaired an estimation of value in use 1s required for each of the cash generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to anise from
the cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value

Provisions
Prowisions are measured at the Directors’ best estmate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the balance sheet date,
and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal

Valuation of financial instruments at faw value

Management makes a number of assumptions with regard to model's used to value financial mstruments at their far value at the year end
Vatuatron techniques commonly used by market practittoners are applied for denvative financial instruments, assumptions are made based
on quoted market rates adjusted for speaific features of the instrument

Intangeble assets

On acquisition of Group companies, the Group recognises any separately identifiable intangible assets from gocdwaill, imibally measuring each
group of mtangible assets at far value Groups of intangible assets will include purchased brands, customer relationships, trade marks and
licenses In determining the fair value with regard to matenal acquisitions, the directors rely on the adwice of third party valuation experts
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

3. Business combinations
Acquisition of Laird Security Systems Division (LSS)
On 27 Apnl 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the equity of LSS, The acquisiton was funded by the raising of £136m by way of a placing
and open offer of 755 6m new ordinary shares in Lupus Capital plc at an 1ssue pnce of 18p per share and by way of a new debt facility
comprising a term loan of $240m

The fasr value of the identifiable assets and abihties of LSS as al the date of acquistbon and the corresponding carmpng amounts
tmmediately before the acquisition were

Prowvisional

Baok fair value

values o Group

£000 £000

Intangible assets 34 96,575
Property, plant and equipment 27627 25,108
Inventories 39,450 29,640
Trade and other recevables 38,437 33,420
Deferred tax asset 13,605 13,605
Cash and cash equivalents 120 120
Trade and other payables (33,350) {24,667)
Taxatton (4,413) (2744)
Non-current trade and other payables (95) (95)
Provisions (4,557) {18,301)
Deferred tax hability (2,760) (34772)
Net asseots 74,405 117799
Goodwill ansing on acquisition (Note 11} 134,298
Total Consideration 252,097

Discharged by:
Agreed consideration 242,500
Worlang capital adjustment 2,709
Adjustment far loans acquired (940)
Total payable to The Laird Group 244,269
Transacton costs 7828
Total Consideration 262,097
Net cash paid:

Total payable to the Laird Group 244,269
Less deferred cansideration {12,500)
Transacton costs paid 7748
Less cash balances acquired (120)
Net cash paid 239,397

From the date of acquisition, LSS has contributed £9 9m to the net profit of the Group As at 31 December 2007 management were
unable to obtain sufhiciently relable information to disclose what LSS's profit and revenue would have been for the whole year had the
combination taken place at the beginning of the year

Farr values include the effect of the disposal of the LSS loss making conservatory business sold on 27 July 2007, and reflect the net
reahsable value on disposal
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Business combinations continued
Acquisition of Schlegel

On 4 Apri 2006 the Group completed the acquisition of the building products business of Schlegel The investment in Schiegel has been
inctuded n the Group's balance sheet at its farr value at 31 December 2007 and provisional far value at 31 December 2006 Net assets

at the date of acquisiion are set out in the following table

UK GAAP IFRS
Frowsional Provgional

tfar value farr value Far Feor value

3t December IFRS 31 December valus 31 December

2008 adjusiments 2006 adjustments 2007

<000 000 S000 <000 £000

intangible assets - 28275 28,275 - 28,275
Property, plant and equipment 14,328 N 14,251 (632) 13,619
Inventones §436 - 9,436 (602) 8,834
Trade and other recevables 14,454 - 14,454 (258) 14,196
Deferred tax asset 7847 1 7868 - 7868
Cash and cash equivalents 786 - 786 - 786
Trade and other payables (53263) @n (53,290} 74 (563218}
Non-current trade and other payables (578) - (578) - (578)
Prowisions (2,029) - (2,029) {884) (2913)
Deferred tax hability (548) (8,460) {9,008) - {0,008)
Employee benefit hability (5.141) - (5,141} - (5.141)
Net assets/(liabilities) (14,698) 19722 5,024 (2.302) 2,722
Goodwill ansing on acquisition 45,472
Total consideration 48,194

Far values have been adjusted to reflect vanous changes to previous assumptions, the matenal ifems of which relate to
- stock adjustments to reflect obsolete and slow moving items against which the directors considered there was inadequate provision
- provisions have been made for restructuring plans that existed at acquisihion and for lease obligations onerous to the Group

Segmental analysis
Primary reporting format = business segments

The following tables present revenue and profit and certain assets and liabiity information regarding the Group's business segments

Oil sarvices Building products Total
Year ended 31 December 2007 £'000 £'000 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 11,342 205,517 216,859
Operating profit 5,557 17,166 21,723
Net finance costs (7,353)
Profit before income tax 15,370
Income tax expense (3,128)
Profit for the year 12,242
Assets and liabllities
Segment assets 11,828 418,094 429,922
Unallocated assets 38,344
Total assets 488,268
Segment habiliies {2,290) (248,385) (250,675)
Unallocated habibhies (10,459)
Total llabllities (261,134)
Other segment information
Caputal expenditure
- property, plant and equipment 37 4,445 4,482
- intangible assets - 233,320 233,320
Cost of goods sold 3,320 139,355 142,675
Depreciation 62 4,640 4,702
Amortisation - 7,749 7,749
Employee benefit habiihes - 3,497 3,497
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4, Segmental analysls continued

Comparative segmental disclesure for the year ended 31 December 2006 15 as follows

Od serces Building products To'at

Year ended 31 December 2006 £000 £000 £000
Continuing operations
Revenue 9,314 53,626 62,940
Operabing profit 3,445 5993 9,438
Net finance costs {1533)
Profit before income tax 7905
Income tax expense {2,973)
Profit for the year 4032
Assets and liabihties
Segment assets 14,363 101,975 116,338
Unallocated assets 15,888
Total assets 132,206
Segment liabilities 1,588 18,091 19,679
Unallocated liabilibes 42566
Total liabilitles 62,245
Other segment information
Capital expenditure
— property, plant and equipment 32 993 1,025
= intangible assets — 71,482 71,482
Cost of goods sold 2832 19,602 22,434
Depreciation 59 1,587 1,646
Amortisabaon - 2128 2,129
Employee benefit habihties - 3,290 3,200
Secandary reparting format - Geographical segments
The following tables present revenue, expenditure and certain asset information regarding the Group's geographical segments

United Kingdom Europe Americas Rest of the world Total
Year ended 31 December 2007 1 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Revenue
Revenue from continuing operations 32,927 99,344 5,388 215,859
Other segment information
Total assets 19,788 382,532 8,452 468,266
Capital expenditure
— property, plant and equipment 372 2,278 87 4,482
— intangible assets - 175,602 - 233,320
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Segmental analysis continued

Comparative segmental disclosure for the year ended 31 December 2006 1s as follows

United Kingdom Europe Amencas Rest of the world Total
Year ended 31 December 2006 £000 £000 £000 000 £ 000
Revenue
Revenue from conlinuing operations 8616 22,376 24570 7378 62840
Other segment information
Segment assets 44538 15,554 53,685 2,561 116,338
Unallocated assels 5888
Total assets 132,226
Capital expenditure
= property, plant and equipment 253 329 350 53 1025
— intangible assels 26,016 3,691 4,727 48 71,482
Exceptional items
2007 2008
£000 £000
Reorganisation costs 1,236 -~
Workers compensation 149 -
1,385 -
Reorgamisation costs reflect the costs of integrating LSS and the Schlegel businesses and the closure of certan US faciihes
Operating profit before finance cost and tax
Operating profit 1s stated after charging the following
2007 2006
£'000 £000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — owned assets 4,594 1,600
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - leased assets 108 46
Amortisation of intangible assets 7,749 2,129
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings 3,280 946
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Group accounts () 66
Fees payable fo the Company's auditors or ther associates for other services
— Audit of the Company's subsidiaries 347 [Pl
- Tax, general and other services 167 187
Foreign exchange (profit)/loss 48 (69)

In addihon £62,000 payable to the auditors in respect of corporate finance work has been included in the transaction costs of the

acquisition of LSS {note 3)
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7

Employees
Number of employees

The average monthly number of employees (including directors) of the Group during the financial year was

2007 2006
Number Number
Administration 360 81
Sales 207 70
Operations 2,269 537
2,836 688
Employment costs
Employment costs of these employees duning the year were as follows
2007 2008
£000 £000
Wages and salanes 43,167 14,878
Social Secunty costs 5,053 1,809
Pension costs — defined contribution schemes 1,231 469
Pension costs — defined benefit schemes 187 (74)
49,638 17082
Directors remuneration
The remuneration payable to directors was as follows
2007 2006
£'000 £000
Greg Hutchings 642 368
Deris Mulhall 387 247
Fredenc Hoad 27 19
Roland Tate 28 19
Michael Jackson 27 3
1,11 656

The fees of Mr Hoad were paid to Hoad & Co (Consultants) Limited those of Mr Tate were paid to Tiger Corporate Finance Limited and

thase of Mr Jackson to Michae!l Jacksan Associates

Mr Jackson and Mr Tate agreed on 17 November 2007 to take payment of therr fees in shares of the Company The relevant letters of agreement
stated that their entittement to fees each of £30,000 for the penods of 12 months commencing on 17 November 2007 and 1 Novermnber
2007 respectively, would be satshied by the issue to them of new ordinary shares in the company, upon the same terms as previously

Pursuant to these agreements, 37,494 new ordinary shares were issued to each of Mr Jackson and Mr Tate on 17 January 2008, by

reference to the closing mid-market price of the shares on 16 Januvary 2008

Finance income and costs

2007 2006
£'000 £000
Finance income
Bank interest recewable 1,845 501
Farr value gans on financial instruments 43 -
1,888 50
Finance costs
Interest payable on bank loans and overdraft (8,303) (1,736)
Finance charges payable under finance lease and hire purchase contracts (23) (172)
Amertisation of borrowing costs {264) (48)
Unwinding of discount on prowisions (517) -
Other finance costs (134) (78)
(9,241) (2,034)
Net finance costs (7,353) {1,533)
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(a)

(b)

Taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary actlvities
Income tax expensge in the income statement

2007 2008
£000 £000
{rastated)
Current income tax:
UK Corporation tax 2,735 1,069
Foreign tax 4,051 1,522
Curmrent income tax charge 6,786 2,683
Adjustments in respect of prior penods 278 0]
Total current income tax 7,064 2,582
Deferred tax:
Effect of change in tax rates {2,013) -
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences {1,964) 344
Other items 4 47
Total deferred tax (3,936) 391
Income tax expense In the income statement 3,128 2973
Tax relating to items charged or credited directly to equity
Deferred tax.
Actuanat gains and losses on pension schemes (54) 27
Income tax expense in the statement of recognised income and expense (54) N7
An adjustment has been made to recognise the change in the UK Corporaticn tax rate to 28% with effect from 1 Apnl 2008
Reccnciliation of the total tax charge
The tax assessed for the year differs from the standard rate of tax in the UK (30%) The differences are explained below
2007 2006
£000 £000
Profit from continuing operations before taxation 15,370 7905
Rate of corporatron tax in the UK of 30% (2006 30%) 4,61 2,372
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 351 6
Overseas tax rate differences 307 355
Other movermnents - 241
Deferred tax rate changes (2,013) -
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (128) (1
Income tax expense in the income statement 3,128 2,973
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a.
(c)

(d)

10.

Taxatlon continued

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following
Group batance sheot Aroup incocs statement
2007 2006 2007 2006
£'000 £000 £1000 £000
Deferred tax liability
Fair value adjustments on acquisitton (25,128) (7.828) (4,221) {632)
Other (187) - 6 —
(25,315) (7828) (4,215) (632)
Deferred tax assets
Post-employment benefits 1,303 1310 - 522
Far value adjustments on acquisiton 5,033 4768 180 483
Other 275 — a9 18
8,611 6,078 279 1,023
Deferred income tax (income)/expenss (3,936) 391
Defarred tax liabilities net (18,704) (1,750)
Reflected in the balance sheet as follows
Deferred tax assets 6,611 6,078
Deferred tax krabilities (25,315) (7828)
Deferred tax liabilities net (18,704) (1,750)

Factors that may affect future tax charges:

There are estimated tax losses of £8,401,000 (2006 £11,954,000) within the Group, comprising capital losses of £7,348,000 and other
tax losses of £1,063,000 As the future use of these losses is uncertain, (n accordance with the Group's accounting palicy no deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of them

The amounts of deferred tax not recognised are as fallows

2007 2006

£000 £000

Tax losses (318) {1,558)
Capital losses {2,057) (2,028)
(2,373) (3,586)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attnbutable to ordinary eguity holders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding duning the year

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dwviding the net profit attnbutable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares ouistanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 1ssued on the
conversion of all the dilutive potenbal ordinary shares nto ordinary shares There are no dilutive shares

2007 2006

000 000
Weighted average number of shares (excluding treasury shares) 114,848 51,985
Treasury shares (39) -
Weighted average number of shares 114,609 §1,985'

'The 2006 number of shares has been restated to reflect the share consolidation in December 2007

Earnings per share from continuing operations before exceptional tems

The Group presents as excephonal items on the face of the income statement, those matenal tems of income and expense which,
because of the nature and expected mfrequency of the events gmng rise to them, ment separate presentation to allow shareholders to
understand better the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate companson with prior periods and to assess better
frends tn financial performance
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10. Earnings per share continued
To this end, basic and diluted earmings per share 15 also presented as an addibonal measure and using the weighted average number of
ordinary shares for both basic ang dituted amounts as per the table above Net profit from continuing operations before exceptional iiems

1"

1s denived as follows

2007 2006
£'000 £000
Praofit for the year from conbinuing operations 12,242 4,832
Exceptional costs 1,385 -
Amorbsation of intangible assets and unwinding discount on provisions 8,266 2128
Tax effect on exceptional costs and amortisation of intangible assets (2,895) (639}
Deferred tax adjustment relating to the rate of corporation tax changing from 30% to 28% (2,013) -
Adjusted underlying profit after tax 16,985 6,422
Adjusted underlying basic and diluted earnings per share 14.82p 12 35p
Intangible assets
Computer software  Acquired brands Customer relations Goodwill Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 2006 - - - 11,4201 11,421
Acquisition of Schlegel (note 3) 75 8,400 19,800 43,170 71,445
Additions 37 - - - 37
At 31 December 2006 12 8,400 19,800 54,591 82903
Acquisition of Schlegel (note 3) - - - 2,302 2,302
Acquisition of LSS (note 3) 341 19,813 76,421 134,298 230,873
Additions 145 - - - 145
At 31 December 2007 598 28,213 86,221 191,191 316,223
Amaortisation
At 1 January 2006 - - - - -
Amarhisation for the year 2 252 1,856 - 2129
At 31 December 2006 21 252 1,856 - 2,129
Amortisation for the year' 16 2526 5,207 - 7,749
At 31 December 2007 a7 2,778 7,083 - 9,878
Net book value
At 31 December 2007 561 25,435 89,158 191,191 306,345
At 31 December 2008 91 8,148 17,944 54,591 80,774

' Amortisation in the year of £7749,000 1s included in administrative expenses in the income statement

Goodwill of £179,770,000 15 allocated to the Bulding Products segment and £11,421,000 to the Ol Services segment.

Impairment tests for goodwill

The Group tests goodwill annually for imparment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired
The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units (*CGU") are determined from value in use calculations

Cash flow projections are denved from financial plans approved by the Board and cover a three year penod They reflect the

managemeni's expectations of revenue growth, operating cost and margin for each CGU based on past expenence Cash flows beyond
the three year period have been extrapolated using estimated terminal growth rates averaging 6%. A pre-tax discount rate of 15% has

been appled to cash flow projections reflecting management's view that similar nsk profiles exist for each CGU

The forecasts are most sensitive to changes tn projected revenue growth rates i the first three years of the forecast period

However, there 1s significant headroom and total future forecast revenues would have to be perpetually more than 9% lower than

currently projected before a possible impairment charge would be indicated

Certan brands and trademarks are considered to have an indefimite life This applies to those brands and trademarks which, as a result
of their excellent reputation with their core customer base and being well regarded in thewr market places, command a sigmificant share of

the markets in which they operate
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Freshold Plant
land and and
Pt qul Total
£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2006 292 488 780
Additons 170 855 1,025
Acquisiion of Schlegel (note 3) 1762 12,459 14,251
Disposals - (12n (120
Foreign curcency adjustment (80) (898) (978)
At 31 December 2006 2,174 12,783 14,957
Additions a6 4,386 4,482
Acquisstion of LSS {note 3) 10,350 36,648 46,998
Amounts wntten off (513) (2,595) (3,108)
Foreign currency adjustment 151 445 596
At 31 December 2007 12,258 51,667 63,925
Accumuiated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 45 292 337
Charge for the year 84 1,562 1,646
Disposals - (19) 9)
Foreign currency adjustment 2 {35) (37)
At 31 December 2006 127 1,800 1927
Charge for the year 42 4281 4702
Acguisttion of LSS (note 3) 1,142 20,748 21,890
Amounts wntten off (86) (970) (1,0586)
Foreign currency adjustment 10 127 i37
At 31 December 2007 1,614 25,986 27,600
Net book value
At 31 December 2007 10,644 25,681 36,325
At 31 December 2006 2,047 10,983 13,030

Depreciation in the year of £4,702,000 1s included in administrative expenses in the income statement.

The carrying value of plant and machinery held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts at 31 December 2007 was £871,000
{2006 £689,000)

Additions and acquisition of subsidianes dunng the year ended 31 December 2007 includes £187,000 of plant and equipment held under
finance leases and hire purchase.

Leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hire purchase habilities

13. Inventories

2007 2006
£°000 £000
Raw matenals and consumables 17,948 3018
Work-in-progress 2,515 1023
Finished goods 14,798 3,354

35,261 7396
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14. Derivative financial instruments

2007 2008

Assets Liabllities Assets Liabilrhes

£'000 £7000 £000 £000

Interest rate swaps - (1,486) - -
Interest rate cap - (60) _ -
Cash flow hedges — (1,546) - -

15.

The full fair value of the hedging derivatives are classified as a non-current asset or liabibity of the remaining matunty of the hedged tem s
mare than 12 months and, as a current asset or hability, f the hedged tem 1s less than 12 months

The notonat pnincipal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2007 were £878 million (2006 Snil)

At 31 December 2007 the fixed interest rates vary from 5025% to 527% (2006 5 27%) and the man floating rates are UK LIBOR and
US Dollar LIBOR Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve (Note 22) on interest rate swap and cap contracts as of 31
December 2007 will be continually released to the income statement until the repayment of the bank borrowings

{Note 17)

Trade and other receivables

2007 2006

£'000 5000

Trade receivables 31,409 12,277
Other receivables 2,068 1,051
Prepayments and deferred income 3,278 1882
36,755 15,210

All amounts are short term The carrying amounis are considered to be a reasonable approximation of farr value

All of the Group's trade and other recevables have been reviewed for imparment. Certain trade recervables were found to be impaired
and a prowsion of £1,853,000 (2006 £1,555,000) has been recorded The indwdually impaired recevables mainly relate to customers
affected by the unexpected ditficuit economic situation

At 31 December 2007 trade recevables of £27726,000 (2006 £10,120,000} were consigered to be fully performing

Trade recewables of £8,651,000 (2006 £3,723,000) were past due but not imparred as at 31 December 2007 These refate to customers
for whom there 15 no recent history of defaull. The ageing analysis of these trade recewables 1s as follows

2007 2006

£000 £000

Up to 3 months 7,877 2172
3 to 6 months 508 1,143
6 months o one year 166 408
8,551 3,723

Movements in the Group prowsions for impairment of trade recewables are as follows, which are included n adrminstrative expenses in

the income statement

2007 2006

£'000 £000
At 1 January 1,555 4
Acquisition in year 1,012 75
Provision for recevables imparment 1,367 1,491
Recewables wntten off in year {523) (i5)
Unused amounts released (1,508) -
Other (50) -
At 3t December 1,853 1,555




40 Lupus Capital pie Annual Report & Accounts 2007

Notes to the Group financial statements continued

15. Trade and other receivables continued

The carmpng amounts of the Group's trade and other recewvables are denominated in the following currencies

2007 2006
£000 £000
Pounds 22,306 53567
US Dollars 8,614 4,267
Euros 4,384 4545
(Other currencies 1,451 1,04
36,755 15,210
16. Trade and other payables
1007 2006
£'000 £1000
Trade payables 25,857 7016
Other taxes and social secunty costs 3,023 272
Accruals and deferred income 29,094 7679
57,974 14,967
All amounts are short term The carrying amounts are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value
The carmng amounts of the Group's trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies
2007 2006
£000 £000
Pounds 35,169 5910
US Dollars 14,827 4,246
Euros 4,437 4132
Other currencies 3,541 679
57,974 14,987
17. Interest-bearing loans and barrowings
2007 2006
£'000 £000
Current
Bank borrowings 16,694 4,938
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 188 156
16,892 5,084
Non-current
Bank borrowings 129,865 27296
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 214 334
130,079 27630
Minimum lease payments due under finance leases ara as follows:
Less than one year 188 156
1 to 5 years 14 334
402 4490

The Group took out loans totaling £35,000,000 from Bank of Scolland and HSBC in connection with the acquisition of Schlegel, of

which £30,000,000 was a long term loan and £5,000,000 short term Repayments of £7500,000 have been made

A revolving credit facility of £10,000,000 in connection with the acquisition of Schlege! was made available by the banks, but no drawings

under this facility have been made at the balance sheet date.

The Group took out a 5 year loan of $240,000,000 from Bank of Scolland, Royal Bank of Scottand and HSBC during the year in

caonnection with the acquisition of LSS. No repayments had been made at 31 December 2007

A revolving credit facibity of $40,000,000 in connection with the acquisition of LSS was arranged with bankers dunng the year Orawings

made under this facility during the year had been repad at the balance sheet date
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17 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings continued
The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings approximate to their fair values and are denominated in the following currencies

2007 2005
£'000 £000

Pounds 27,297 32,234

US Bollars 119,302 -

Euros 362 480

146,961 32,724
There were no defaults in interest payments in the year under the terms of the loan agreements
18. Provisions
Property
tated R Other Tatal
£000 £'000 £/000 £000

At 1 January 2006 - - - -
On acquisiiion of Schlegel (note 3) - 2,029 - 2,029

Fareign currency adjustment - (161) — {161)
At 31 December 2006 - 1,868 - 1868

On acquisition of Schlegel (note 3) - 780 - 780

On acquistion of LSS (note 3} 15,540 685 2,166 18,391

Provided duning the year 22 256 2,424 2,702

Uthised duning the year (443 (1,6686) (40) (2147}
Released during the year - (1169) - (1,169)
Unwinding of discount 817 - - 517

Foreign currency adjustment - (50) - (50)
At 31 December 2007 15,638 704 4,550 20,892

The property related provisions represent the estimated net present value of future costs for lease rentals, dilapidations and other
property costs for facilities that are surplus to business requirements or where the Group has a legal obligation The leases have terms of
up to 10 years to expiry

The restructuring provisions relate mamnily o costs of integrating LSS and the Schlegel business and the closure of certain US facibities,
which were committed to at acquisthion

Other provistons mainly compnse product hability and inventory related prowisions

19. Financial Instruments: risk profile
The Group’s principal financial instruments compnse bank loans, finance leases and hire purchase contracts, and cash and short-term
deposits The Group has vanous other financial instruments such as trade recevables and trade payables that anse directly from its
operations No trading in financial instruments 1s undertaken

The Board reviews and agrees pelicies for managing each financial instrument nisk and they are summanised below

Liquidity and credit risk

The Group maintains sutficient cash and marketable secunties and the avarlabity of funding through an adequate amount of credit
faciies Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's iquidity on the basts of expected cash flow The Group manages hquidity
nsk by the pooling of cash rescurces and depositing funds avallable for mvestment in approved financial instruments with financial
institutions Counterparty risk wath respect to cash and cash equivalents 1s managed by only investing in banks and financial instruments
with independently assessed credit ratings of at least AA- as published by Standard & Poors Indwidual nsk limits are assessed by
management hased on the external ratings Management does not expect any losses from the non-performance by these counterparties

Credit nsk 15 also attnibutable to the Group’s exposure 1o trade recewables due from wholesale customers

Management assesses the credit quality of customers taking inte account therr financial position, past experience and other factors n
arder to mitigate credit nsk the Group utihises credit insurance in those areas of its operations where such insurance 1s availlable In areas
where such insurance 1s not available, management monitors the utiisation of credit heits by customers, identfied either indvidually or by
group, and sncorporates this information in credit nsk contrals

Trade recewvables are presented in the balance sheet net of allowances for doubtful recevables, estimated by the Group's management
based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment
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19. Financlal instruments risk profile continued
The Group's exposure to credit nsk s imited to the camying amount of financial assets recognised at the balance sheet date, as
summansed below

2007 2006
£000 £000
Classes of financial assets - carrying amounts
Cash and cash equivalents 46,969 9738
Trade and other recenvables 36,755 15,210
At 31 December 83,724 24,948

Management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaied for each of the reporting dates under review are of good
credit quahty, including those that are past due

None of the assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements
Dunng the year ended 31 December 2007 the Group operated within s borrowing facilities

The table befow analyses the Group's financial habilibes into retevant matunity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual matunty date

Less than Batwasn Botween

1 yaar 1and2yrs 2 and Syrs Total

£'000 £000 £000 £000
Borrowings 16,882 16,901 13,178 146,961
Denvative financial instruments - - 1,546 1,546
Trade and other payables 57974 1166 40 59,180
At 31 December 2007 74,856 18,0687 114,764 207,687
Borrowings 5,094 5,003 22537 392,724
Denvative financtal instruments — - - -
Trade and other payables 14,967 115 - 15,082
At 31 December 2006 20,061 5,208 29537 47806

Interest rate risk
Interest rate nisk profile of borrowings
The Group has an overdraft facihty, but this was not used for borrowing purposes

The interest rate profile of the Group’s borrowings as at the 31 December 2007 was as follows

Floating rate Fixed rate

Liabithtlns Liabilities Total

£000 £000 £2000

Pounds 27283 14 27297
US Doltars 119,276 26 119,302
Euros - 362 362
At 31 December 2007 146,559 402 146,961
Pounds 32234 - 32234
Euros - 490 490
At 31 December 2006 32,234 480 32724

The interest rate on the floating rate bank loans are linked to LIBOR The Group has aken out an interest rate swap agreement.
This agreement is effective from 4 October 2006 and covers the penod untit 4 October 2008 and the economic effect of this swap
agreement was to fix the interest rate for the borrowings for the Schlege! acquisiion

The Group took out a further swap agreement which was effective from 12 June 2007 and covers the period unbl 31 March 2010 and the
economic effect was to parbally fix the interest rate for the borrowings for the LSS acquisition
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19. Financial instruments: risk profile continued

Caovered Swap
Flosting rate by Interast fixed
borrowings rate swaps rate
At 31 December 2007 £7000 £7000 »
Pounds 27,283 27,283 5.27%
UsS Dollars 119,276 59,638 5.025%
148,559 86,921

At 31 December 2006

Pounds 32,234 32,234 623%

The werghied average interest rate on the fixed financial liabilities 1s 73% and weighted average interest penod 1s 5 years

The Group entered into an mterest rate cap {ransaction which was effective from 12 June 2007 and covers the penod until 31 March
2010 and the economic effect was to cap the rate at which interest 1s payable on 50% of the $240m ioan faciity at 5 5%,

Interest rate nsk of financial assets
The Board penodically reviews any exposure the Group may have to interest rate fluctuations The weighted average inferest rate receved
on deposited funds was 4 8% during the year (2006 4 5%)

Foreign currency nsk

The Group operates infernabonally and 1s exposed to foreign exchange nsk ansing from vanous currency exposures, pnmanly with respect to
the US Dollar, the Euro and the Australian Dollar Foreign exchange nsk anses from future commercral and financing transachons, recognised
assets and labilities denominated in a currency that 1s not the Group's funcbional currency and ret investments in overseas entities

The Group has a number of overseas subsidianes, whose net assets are subject to currency translation nsk The Group borrows in local
currencies as appropnate, to minimise the impact of this nsk on the balance sheet

Overseas subsidiaries are responsible for managing transactonal foreign exchange nisk ansing from future commercial and financing
transactions and recogmsed assets and habilities in currencies other than thewr functional currency, usually by using forward currency
contracts

Forelgn currency exchange rate sensitivity

The Group recewes approximately 41% of its revenues and incurs approximately 38% of its costs in USD The Group 1s therefore
sensitive to movements in the USD against GBP Each five cent movement i the USD to GBF exchange rate has a circa £2 2 million
impact on revenue and a circa £0 4 million impact on operating profits Offsetting this will be reductions in USD interest and USD tax
liabities This analysis assumes all other vanables, including interest rates remain constant.

Additionally the Group recewes approximately 15% of its revenue and mcurs approximately 14% of its costs in euros Each five cent
movement in the euro to GBP exchange rate has a circa £10 milhon impact on revenues and a circa £01 million impact on operating
profits Offsetting thus will be reductions to euro interest and euro tax habihties This analysis assumes all other vanables including interest
rates remain consistent

The impact of movements in other exchange rates 1s immaterial
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19. Financlal instrumaents: risk profile continued
Interest rate sensitivity continued
Foreign currency financial assets and habilities, translated into sterling at the closing rate, are as follows

usD Euros Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Short term exposure
Ftnancial assets 29,063 7,469 3,443 39,975
Financial habthties {(29,334) (3,567) (3,003) {35,904)
At 31 Dacember 2007 @n) 3,902 440 4,07
Long term-exposure
Financial assets - - - -
Financial habiihes (113,235) (188) (15) (113,436)
At 31 Decomber 2007 {113,235) (186) (15) (113,438)
uso Euros Othar To al
£000 £000 £000 £000
Short term exposure
Financial assets 7352 7.200 1,304 15946
Financial habiibes {5,258) 5727 (749) (11734)
At 31 December 2006 2,004 1,473 645 4212

Long term-exposure
Finanaial assets — — _ -
Financial habiites - — — -

At 3t December 2008 - — - -

20. Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans

20.1 Defined contribution pension schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contnbution pension schemes, the assets of which are held externally to the Group in separate
trustee administered funds The costs of the Group's defined contribution pension schemes are charged to the income statement in the
penod in which they fall due. The Group had unpaid pension contributions of £15,000 (2006 £15,000) included within employee benefit
habihties

20.2 Defined benefit pension and post retirement benefit schemes
The Group's principal defined benefit pension scheme and past-retirement healthcare scheme 1s operated in the USA An actuaral
valuation was last performed as at 31 December 2006, When revatued scheme assets are included at market value and scheme habilties
are measured on an actuanal basis using the projected unit method, these habilities are discounted at the current rate of return on a high
quahty corporate bond of equivalent currency and term The post-retirement benefit surplus or deficit 1s included on the Group's balance
sheet, net of the related amount of deferred tax Surpluses are only included to the extent that they are recoverable through reduced
contributions in the future or through refunds from the schemes

The current service cost and any past semice costs are included in the incame statement within operating expenses and the expected
return on the schemes’ assets, net of the impact of the unwinding of the discount on scheme habilities, 15 included within other finance
income Actuarial gains and losses, including differences between the expected and actual return on scheme assets, are recagrised, net
of the related deferred 1ax, in the statement of total recognised income and expense.

The pension scheme 15 closed to new entrants, as a result the service costs to the Group will increase in future years The expected level
of contnbutions to the defined benefit pension scheme and post-retrement heatthcare scheme in the year to December 2008 15 £674,000 '

Other defined benefit pension schemes had hiabiliies of £224,000 (2006 £ml)
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20. Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans continued
20.2 Defined benefit pension and post retirement benefit schemes continued

The amounts recogmised in the income statement are as follows

2007 2006
£000 £000
Defined contrbution schemes 1,231 469
Defined benefit scheme — current service cost 187 167
- post service cost - {241)
Total pension charge mcluded in employee benefit expense (Note 7) 1,418 395
Finance income and costs 562 392
Interest on plan labilibes (801%) (470)
(39) (78)
Total expense recognised in the income statement 1,379 317
The major assumplions used by the actuary were,
3t December 2007 31 December 2006 On acquisiian
Rate of increase in salares n/a n/a n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 0.0% 00% 00%
Discount Rate 6.0% 60% 5 75%
Health care cost trend' 9.0%-5% 9 5%-5% 95%-5%
'The level of healthcare contrbutions are capped and adopting a higher trend rate does not matenally affect the habiity
The far value of the schemes’ assets, the expected rates of return, the present value of the schemes' labilities and the net pension
liabihties were as follows
31 Dacember 2007 3 December 2006 QOn acquisiicn
Expected Fair Expected Far Expected Fair
rate of retum value rate of return valua rate of return valua
% pa £'000 % pa £000 % pa £000
Equities 9.2 £,039 g2 5,148 92 4994
Bonds 83 2,116 51 2,022 51 1777
QOther 3.1 90 3t 107 31 125
Total market value of scheme assets 7,245 7977 6,806
Present value of scheme habilities (10,503) {10,552) {12,015)
Deficit in the scheme (3,258) (3,275) (5119)
Deferred tax asset 1,303 1,310 2,048
The components of the defined benefit cost were as follows
2607 2006
£1000 £000
Qperating profit
Current service cost 187 167
Past service costs - (241)
Total operating charge/(credii) 187 {74)
Other finance {charge)/income
Expected return on plan assets 562 392
Interest on plan liabilibies {601) 470)
Net return (39) (78)
Statement of total recognised income and expense
Actual return less expected return on plan assets (335) 3
Experence gains and losses on the scheme habilites 182 65
Exchange rate 48 539
Change in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme habilities - 15
Actuanal (loss)/gan (105} 6§22
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20

Pensions and other post-employment bensfit plans continued

20.2 Defined benefit pension and post retirement benefit schemes continued

2%,

The movement i the recegmised (deficit) in the schemes duning the year was as follows

2007 2006
£'000 £600
Deficit in scheme at 1 January (3,275) -
On acquisition - {5,119)
Current service cost (187) (167)
Past service cost - 241
Contnbutions 348 1226
Other finance charge 39 (78)
Actuanal gain (105} 622
Deficit in scheme at 31 December {3,258} (3.275)
An analysis of the amounts recognised within the consohidated statement of total recognised gans and losses 1s as follows
Difference between the expected and actual return of scheme assets
Amgount (£'000) (335) 3
Percentage of scheme assets 4.6% 00%
Expenence gains and losses on the scheme habilittes
Amount (£'000) 182 65
Percentage of present value of the scheme assets habilities 17% 06%
Total amount recognised in statement of total recogmsed gains and losses
Amount (£'000) (105) 622
Percentage of present value of the scheme assets habilites 1.0% 58%
Share capital
Group and company
Ordinary shares
of 5p each
Number of shares'
000 000
At 1 January 2006 23,770 1,188
Proceeds of shares issued 37,857 1,894
Proceeds of shares issued in heu of directors remuneration 29 1
31 December 2006 61,656 3,083
Proceeds of shares issued 75,556 3,778
31 December 2007 137,212 6,861

'Restated to reflect the share consohbdation in December 2007

The total authansed number of ordinary shares 15 180,000,000 (2006 825,000,000) with a nominal value of Bp per share
(2006 O 5p per share) All issued shares are fully paid

Issue of shares in connection with the acquisition of LSS

The acquisthion of LSS was completed on 27 Apnl 2007 The acquisiton was funded by the raising of £1385 milhon by way of a placing and open
offer of 755,555,556 ordinary shares with a nominal value of 0.5p in the Company at an 1ssue pnce of 1B pence per share and by a new debt
facility compnsing a termn loan of $240,000,000 and a mulhcurrency revohving loan facility of $40,000,000 The Company’s authonsed share
capital was increased from £4,125,000 o £9,000,000 by shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on 19 Apnl 2007 {o authonse

the LSS transaction

Share consolidation

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2007, shareholders approved a consohdation of the share
capital of the Company from 1,372,115,334 ordinary shares of 05 pence into 137,211,533 ordinary shares of 5 pence. The authonsed

share capitat was consohdated from 1,800,000,000 ordinary shares of 05 pence to 180,000,000 ordinary shares of § pence
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n.

22.

Share capital continued

Employee share ownership trust

5,122,951 ordinary shares of 5p each are held by the trustees of the Lupus Employee Share Ownership Trust (*the lesot"} under the
employee incentive arrangements descnbed in the aircular dated 21 January 2004 and approved by shareholders on 16 February 2004
These shares are held for the benefit of the family of Greg Hutchings, executive chairman of the Company

At 1 January 2007 the lesot held 63,385,676 ordinary shares of 05 pence The lesot did not subscribe for further ordinary shares in the
placing and open offer i connection with the acquisition of LSS and no shares were 1ssued under this scheme in erther 2006 or 2007
During the year ended 31 December 2007 12,156,157 ardinary shares of 0 5 pence were bought by an Albhance Trust pension scheme
which 1s for the benefit of Greg Hutchings The remaining 51,229,519 shares were then subject to consohdation

Contingent rights to the allotment of sharas
At 31 December 2007 there were 71,423 contingent nghts to the allotment of shares, in respect of options granted to Mr Hutchings
under the EMI scheme The shares held by the lesot are available to satisfy these contingent rights

Issue of shares to directors in payment of fees

Since 31 December 2007, 37974 shares have been 1ssued to Mr Jackson in payment of his director's fees (£30,000) for the year
commencing 17 November 2007 and 37974 shares have been 1ssued to Mr Tate, in payment of his directors fees (£30,000) for the year
commencing 1 November 2007

Reconciliation of movements in equity

sh
Share prch:'r: Gther {edgl T datl d
capital account resarves rosarve reseve aarnings Total
£'000 £'000 £1000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 1 January 2006 1188 - 10,389 - - 4,301 15,878
Shares 1ssued net of costs 1,895 45 - - - 49713 51,653
Total recognised income and
expense for the year - - - - {1,653) 5337 35684
Dwidends paid - — - - - (1,234} (1,234)
At 31 December 2006 3,083 45 10389 - (1653) 58117 69,981
Shares 1ssued net of costs 3778 - - - - 127758 1315636
Total recogntsed ncome and
expense for the year - — - (1,546) (148) 12,137 10,443
Dwvidends paid - - - - - (3753)  (3,753)
Share buyback - - - - - (1,075} (1,075)
At 31 December 2007 8,881 45 10,389 (1,548) (1,801) 193,184 207,132
2007 2006
£000 £000
Dwidends paid in the year were as follows
Final dmdend for 2005 at 2 78p per share - 661
Interim dwdend for 2006 at O 49p per share - 302
Special mtenm dwidend for 2006 at 114p per share - 27
Final dvdend for 2006 at 3 34p per share 2,059 -
Special intenm dividend for 2007 at 150p per share 925 -
Intenm dwidend for 2007 at 0 56p per share 769 -
3,753 1,234
Dmdends not refiected in the financial statements
Proposed final dwvidend for the year 2007 at 3 51p per share (2006 3 34p restated) 4,557 2,059

All dvidends have been adjusted for the share consolidation as descnbed in note 21

The shares issued in connection with the acquisition of LSS, as described in note 21 above, were 1ssued in consideration for shares in
Lupus Capital (Jersey) (2) Limited and the premium thereon represented a capital profit taken to retamed earnings

Included within the profit and loss account 1s £96,000, which represents an amount transferred to a Special Reserve within the accounts
of a subs:diary company under the terms of a Court Order on a reduction in share capital of that company

The other reserves are non-distributable capital reserves which arcse on the acquisiion of the Octror Group and the Gall Thomson Group
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22. Reconclliation of movements in equity continued

2

24,

25,

Purchase of own shares
At the extracrdinary general meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2007, shareholders authorised the Company to make market
purchases of its own ordinary shares up to a maximum of 20,568,008 ordinary shares, representing 14 89% of the ordinary shares in issue

Up to 31 December 2007 purchases were made of 1,309,675 ordinary shares, which are being held in Treasury The Company’s vobing
ordinary share capilat at 31 December 2007 was therefore 135,801,858 shares The aggregate cost of these purchases was £1,074,930

Since 31 December 2007, the Company has made further purchases amounting to 6,137,008 ordinary shares These shares are also held
in Treasury

Cash and short term equivalents

£000
At 1 January 2008 2,664
Cash flow 7084
At 31 December 2006 9738
Cash flow 37231
At 31 December 2007 46,969
Contingent liabllities
1007 2006
£'000 £000
Financial guarantees 1,574 1,656
Performance bonds 9 g
Legal claims - 578
Contracts for future expenditure k)| 17
1,614 2,260

The Group had guarantees amounting to £1,574,000 These guarantees principally relate to letters of credit provided by banks in respect
of Workmens' compensation clams on which no losses are anticipated

Financial commitments
The Group has entered into commerctal leases on certain properhies There are no restnictions placed upon the lessee by entenng into
these leases

The present value of future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Land and buildings

7007 2006

£'000 £000

Not later than one year 3,577 1023
After one year but more than five years 10,436 3894
Over five years 9,360 5872
Other

2007 2006

£/000 £000

Not later than one year L3 142
After one year but more than five years 667 220

Over five years 136 45
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26. Investments in subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidianes of the Group, all of which are wholly owned, are as follows

Country of incorporaton Mature of business
Gall Thomson Enviranmental Limited UK Qil services
KLAW Products Limited” UK tndustrial couplings

Octror Group Lsmited UK Investment company
Lupus Capital Management Limited UK Management services
Schlegel Acguisthion Holdings Limited UK Holding company
Schlegel UK (2006) Limited” UK Building products
Schlegel Systems inc USA Building products
Schlegel Australia Pty Limited” Austraha Buillding products
Schlegel Gmbh™ Germany Bullding products
Schlege! Belgium BVBA® Belgium Bulding products
Schlegel SR [taly Bullding products
Schlegel Taliana SL* Spain Building products
Jasper Acquisihon Holdings Lirmited UK Holding company
Jasper Acquisiion Limited” UK Holding company
Amesbury Acquisition Holdings (No 2) Inc* USA Holding company
Amesbury Industres Inc” USA Buillding products
Amesbury Finance MHoldings LLC” USA Holding company
Lupus Investments Unbmited Company* UK investment company
Amesbury Doar Hardware Inc (SDY USA Bullding products
Amesbury Group Inc® USA Holding company
Amesbury Group Plashe Profiles Inc* USA Bullding products
Bandlock Corporation Inc” USA Bulding products
Balance Systems In¢” USA Bulding products
Fastek Products Inc” USA Buillding products
LSSD UK Limited” UK Holding company
Balance UK Limited” UK Bullding products
ERA Products Limited" UK Building products
EWS (Manufacturing} Limited” UK Bulding products
Intron Limited” UK Building products
LSH (UK) Limited” UK Building products
Linear Liruted® UK Bullding products
Lindman Group Limited® UK Building products
Secundor Holdings Limited* UK Building products
Ventrolla Limited” UK Bullding products

*held by a subsidiary
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27. Related party transactions
Directors
Dunng the financial year, no contracts of significance were entered into by the Group or any of it's subsidianes in which the directors had
a matenal interest.

Key management compensation
Compensation for Direclors wha have the sole responsibihty for planning, directing and controling the Group 1s disclosed in note 7

Inter-company transactions with suhsidiary undertakings
There were no transachons of the Company dunng the year with subsihary companies

28 Effect of adoption of IFRS
The date of transition to IFRS was 1 January 2006
The tables below summanses the differences between UK GAAP, as presented in the audited annual report and accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2006, and IFRS

Income statement

Year ended 31 December 2006 £000
Profit for the year from continuing operations

As reported under UK GAAP 6,408
Amorbisation of intangible assets ansing from the acquisthon of Schlegel (2108)
Deferred tax impact of intangible assets 632

As reported under IFRS 49372
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28. Effect of adoptlon of IFRS continued
Balance Sheet

Asat 1 January 2006 As 8t 31 December 2006
{date of re=transiton to IFRS) {end of last panod presented under UK GAAP)
Effect of IFRS Effect of
Previaus re-transion (opening IFRS Previous transiton
GAAP 16 IFRSs oalance sheet) GAAP to IFRSs IFRS
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9,940 1,481 1142 72,832 7942 80,774
Property, plant and equipment 443 - 443 13,123 (93) 13,030
Deferred tax asset - - - = 6,078 6,078
10,383 1,481 11,864 85,955 13927 99,882
Current assets
Inventones 33 - 33 7396 - 7,396
Trade and other recewvables 2965 - 2865 15210 - 15,21¢
Cash and short term deposits 2,654 - 2654 9738 - 9,738
Deferred tax - — — 6,067 {6,067} -
5950 - 5,950 38411 (6,067) 32,344
TOTAL ASSETS 16,333 1,481 17814 124,366 7860 132,226
LIABILIMES
Current liabilities
Income tax payable {T8) - (718) (1,453) — (1,453)
Trade and other payables (1,196) - (1,196} (13,590) (1.277) (14,967)
Finance lease obhgatons m - M (156} - (158)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings — — -~ (4,938) - (4,938)
(1,915) - (1,915} (20237) (1.277) (21,514)
Non-current Jiabilities
Finance lease obligatons @ - @ (334) - (334)
Deferred tax (19) - (19) - (7828) (7,828)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings - - - (27,296) - (27,296)
Employee benefit lability - - - (3,200) - {3,290)
Provisions - - - (1,868) - (1,868)
Other creditors — - - (1,365) 1,250 {115)
(21) - (21) (34,153) (6,578) (40,731)
TOTAL LIABILITIES (1,936) - {1,936) (54,390) (7.855) (62,245)
NET ASSETS 14,397 1,481 15,878 69976 5 69,981
EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 1,188 - 1,188 3,083 — 3,083
Share premium - - - 45 — 45
Merger reserve 10,389 - 10,389 10,389 - 10,389
Cumulative transtational differences - - - (1,653) - {1,653)
Retained earnings 2,820 1,481 4,301 58112 5 58,117

TOTAL EQUITY 14,357 1,481 15,878 69,876 5 69,981
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28. Effect of adoption of IFRS continued

1 January 3t December

2008 2006

Total equity UK GAAP 14,397 69,976

Amaortisation of goodwill under UK GAAP added back 1,481 1,481
Amorhsation of intangble assets ansing from the acquisibion of Schleget - {2,108)
Recogrition of accrual for holday pay - (27)
Deferred tax impact of amortisation of intangible assets - 632

Deferred tax impact of accrual of holiday pay - 1"
Other differences - 16
Total adjustment to equity 1,481 5
Total equity IFRS 15,878 69,981

In addition to the above there are a number of reclassifications between UK GAAP and IFRS which do not impact the net assets as
reported, the most sigmificant of which are

Intangible assets

Under IFRS certain intangible assets that exist as a result of a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill if they are
separable and measurable As such with respect to the Schlegel acquisition £8,400,000 in respect of brands and £ 18,800,000 in respect
of customer relationships have been recognised separately from goodwill and £2,108,000 has been charged in respect of amortisation of
these assets for the penod from date of acquisihion to 31 December 2006 Under UK GAAP there 1s no requirement to separate
intangible assets and hence all such amounts therefore form part of goodwill and are not then amorhised

Deferred tax

Under IFRS deferred tax s provided for the difference between the book value of the intangible assets ansing as a result of the
acquisition of Schlegel and the tax base of these assets with the corresponding entry beng made te goodwill The deferred tax prowided
on acquisition was £8,460,000 and £632,000 has been released to the profit and loss account as a result of the amortisation charged in
the period from date of acquisition to 31 December 2006

Computer software
A reallocation of £91,000 of compuler software costs from tangible assets under UK GAAP to intangible assets under IFRS has been
made

Cash flow statement
There was no impact on cash flow as regards the transitien to IFRS,
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Report of the independent auditors
to the members of Lupus Capital pic

We have audiied the parent company financial statements of Lupus Capital ple for the year ended 31 December 2007 which compnse the
prncipal accounting policies, the balance sheet and notes 1 to 13 The parent company financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out therein

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Lupus Capital ple for the year ended 31 December 2007

This report s made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Sechion 235 of the Comparies Act 1585 Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report
and for ng other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyone other than the company
and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibibties for prepanng the Annual Report, and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom law
and Accounting Standards {Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibibhies

Our responsibility 15 to audit the parent company financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company
financial statements we also report to you have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 We also report to you
whether in our opinion the nformation given in the Directors' Report 1s consistent with the financial statements In addition we also report to
you i, In our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting recards, If we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or If nformation specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contamed in the Annual Report and consider whether it 15 consistent with the audited parent company financial

statements The other information compnses only the Corporate Governance Statement, Directors’ Repart, Directors’ Remuneration Report
and the Charrman's Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or maternal

inconsistencies with the parent company financial statements Our responsibiities do not extend to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland} issued by the Auditing Practices Board

An audit includes examinabion, on a test basis, of ewdence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial statements
be audited It also includes an assessment of the sigmificant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the company's circumstances, consistently apphed
and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the informatton and exptanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient ewidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregulanty or error In formeng our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
infarmation in the parent company financial statements

Opinion

In our opimion

+ the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the company's affarrs as at 31 December 2007, and

= the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985, and

* the information given in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements

Grant Thorton UK LLP wak Tho,ite. U CL?

Registered Auditors
Chartered Accountants

London
30 May 2008
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2007
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2007 2006
Note £000 £000
Fixed assels
Investments 4 185,140 74,100
185,140 74,100
Current assets
Trade and other debtors 6 8,773 1,601
Cash at bank and in hand 14,572 5270
23,345 6,87
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 7 (4,620) (4,035)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 18,725 2.836
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 203,865 76,936
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 8 {7,876) (7.876)
NET ASSETS 195,989 68,060
EQUITY
Shareholders’ funds
Called up share capital 1 6,861 3,083
Share premium " 45 45
Other reserves 1A 8,920 8920
Profit and loss account 1 180,163 57012
EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS 195,989 69,060

The financial statementswere approved by the Board on 30 May 2008 and signed on its behalf by

Greg Hutchings
Chairman

Demis Mulhail
Dhrector
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1.

Accounting policies
Going concern basis
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis

Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards (UK GAAP) In order to harmonise
UK GAAP with international financial Reporling standards a number of new accounbing standards have been introduced including FRS 20,
FRS 21, FRS 22, FRS 23, FRS 25 and FRS 29 The Company adopted all the required new accounting standards

There was no matenal impact on the accounts of pnor years ansing from the adoption of the new standards

All other accounting policies remain unchanged from those used in the last annual accounts

Investments
Investments in subsidianes are stated at cost less any permanent dminution of value

Cash
Cash included cash at bank and in hand

Financial instruments

Financtal assets and habilities are recognised on the Company's balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Trade debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by approprate allowances for estimated recoverable amounts

Trade credrtors are stated at their nominal amount

Bank borrowings

Interest beanng bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received All borrowing costs are expensed as tnecurred, on
accruals basss, to the Company profit and loss account using the effective interest rate method

Share-based payments

All share-based arrangements are recogmsed in the consolidated financial statements The Group operates equity-settled share-based
remuneration plans for remunerabon of certan employees

All employee services receved in exchange for the grant of any share-based remuneration are measured at therr farr values

All share-based remunerahion 1s ultmately recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account with a corresponding credit to equity,
net of deferred tax where apphicable.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

2.

3.

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company

The Company 1s an investment holding company i recewves dmdend income from subsidianies and bank interest. It pays loan interest to a
subsidiary Almost all administrative expenses are paid by the Company’s substdiary, Lupus Capital Management bimited, including the
whale amount of relevant auditor's remuneration and operating lease costs

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company's profit and loss account has not been included in these accounts
The profit on ordinary activibes attnbutable to shareholders of the Company deait with in these accounts was £221,000 (2006 £71,000)
Employees

There were no employees of the Company dunng the year (2006 ni)

Fixed asset investments

£000
Cost
At 1 January 2006 2571
Additions 49,000
At 31 December 2006 74,711
Additions 111,040
At 31 Decamber 2007 185,751
Impairment
At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2006 611
Charge for the year -
At 31 December 2007 611
Net beok value
At 3t December 2007 185,140
At 31 December 2006 74,100
Investments in subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidianes of the Company, all of which are wholly owned, are as follows

Couny of mcarporason Nature of business
Gall Thomson Environmental Limited UK Qi services
Octron Group Limited UK Investment company
Lupus Capital Management Limited UK Management services
Schlegel Acguisition Holdings Limited UK Holding company

Jasper Acquisition Holdings Limited UK Holding company
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A

10.

Debtors
2007 2006
£'000 £000
Other debtors 5 -
Amount due from subsidiary undertaking 8,768 1,601
8,773 1,601
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2007 2006
£000 £000
Trade creditors 17 -
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 4,376 3991
Corporation tax 127 44
4,620 4,035
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
1007 2006
£000 £000
Loan notes owed to Group undertakings 7.876 7876

Borrowing
An overdraft facility of £100,000 s available to the Company It falls due annually for renewal in October of each year

Share capital
The share capital of the Company 1s as set out n note 21 of the Group accounts
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

11

12.

Reconciliation of movements in shareholder funds

Sh
Share prem!:: Other Profit and
capital account resarves loss account Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'600
At 1 January 2006 1,188 - 8,920 8,462 18,570
Shares 1ssued net of costs 1,895 45 — 49713 51,653
Frofit for the year - - - il il
Dmdends paid - - - (1,234) (1,234)
At 31 December 2006 3083 45 8,920 87012 69,060
Shares issued net of costs 3778 - — 127758 131,536
Profit for the year - - - 20 2
Dradends pad — - - (3,763) (3,753)
Share buyback — - - ,075) (1.075)
At 31 December 2007 6,861 45 8,920 180,163 195,989

Financial commitments
At 31 December 2007 the Company had future annual lease commitments under non-canceliable operating leases as stated below
These commitments are met on the Company's behalf by Lupus Capital Management Limited

Land and bulldings

2007 2008
000 £000

Expiry date
Within one year 32 35




Form of proxy

Lupus Capital plc

YWe

(BLOCK CAPITALS PLEASE)

of

beng (a) member(s) of Lupus Caprtal plc appoint the charman of the meeting ot

{see note 1) of

as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meating of the Company to be held at the offices of
Slaughter & May, One Bunhill Row London, ECTY BYY on 2 July 2008 at 2 30 and &t any adioumment thersof

Please ndicate with an X in the spaces provded how you wish your votes ta be cast on the resolutons specified

Resolution For Aganst Abstain

To recene and adopt the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007

To declare a final dvidend of 3 51p per share

To re-appont Mr Moad as a director

To re-appont Mr Tate as a director

To re-appant Grant Thomton UK LLP as indspendent auditors to the Company

To authonse the directors to set the aucitors iemunaration

To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report

To ratify and condim the total sums of drrectors’ remuneration dunng 1895-2007

O o{~N[d ||~ | ]—=

To authonse the directors to allot secunbes, up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £2,135,625 95

o

To authonse the drectors to allot secunties free from pre-emption nghts  subject to certan
specified imitations

11 To authonse the Company to purchasa its own shares

12 To delete article 83, conceming directors remuneration, and replace it by a new article 83

13 To delete article 89, concerning directors’ conficts of interests, and replace itby a
new arycle 85

Subject lo any voling nstruclions so gven the proxy will vote, or may abstan from voting on any resolution as he may think fit

Signature Dated this day of 2008

NOTEZ
1 ¥you sodes™ you may delgre t~e words charman o the meetng’ and nsart ha name of yo.1 ows choce of crony who reed not ba a memocer of the Company  Flease nitd such a*eraton

2  The proxy form must be kdged & the Compay's UK Reg sters Agert Capsla Regrstars (Proxies) PO Box 25 The SegeTy 34 Sechepham Road Bectervarn Kerd 883 4BS no: lass thar 48 rowrs

ber'ora
tre tra fxed for the meaang In defad the proxy canne™ be ased as vabd
3 Acopostor mst exesue the proxy under 1s common <8 of Lnder the hana of an officer or atiomey duly awdronsad

4 Wihes proxy fonn 8 exacuted Lixder a puwer of 2oy o obror 2uhorly UG power of atiomey or olher authornty or a nolanally celrfed copy thersol rmust pe kodged win the Rey strars wath the ey
form Aemalvely n e case of CREST Tembes volr ¢ may ve e'fected by using the CREST wlecirenc oroxy acpumtre t senvics CREST members who wish lo uliiss the CREST sewce may do

30 by 'ollowing the proced.res dascribed n e CHEST manud CREST Personal Membburs or otrer CHEST soonsorsd memoers wnd those CREST membiars wrw hewe eppointed a volng sanvee

prowvider snoukd refer to (her CREST spor=ur of voing semice provider 470 will ba sble 1o 1ake (e sarotdate action on ther vehell Fiorder for @ prowy apesontment made by rmeans of CREST o be
vaid the aporopriate CREST message musl be tarsnitted 50 a8 to be recenwed uy the Compeny's agent Cepra Regslrars fwhose CREST ID)s RA10) by the sosc fed latest Lime for recenat of proxy

gppontments For the purpose e e of moe ptwil be taken 10 be thie tmelas cetennined by the trreslamp apoled 1o 1he rressage by the CRES! Appbcations Host) ron whw- e Corpaiy s
agert 19 ool Lo retnave the Inessage oy encury to CREST nithe mamer

5 Inihe caseof ot holders 1re vole o the senor ol by actupted 10 e excuson of 1 e clber juait holders soronty Lemng datenroesd by Fe order viowhich e names slerd i tre regrster n respect

of the Jork holdng
6 Sharerokders wshng (o sppont a proxy us g CREST shoukd roler 10 tro notes of e Nowee of Anruad General Meetry
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Nouice of meeting

Notice 1s hereby gven that the Annual General Meating of Lupus Capial ple will be held at the offices of Slaughter & May, 1 Bunhifl Row,
London EC1Y 8YY, on 2 July 2008 at 2 30 pm, for the following purposes

Ordinary resolutions
To consider and, if thought fit, approve the following ordinary resolutions

1

To recewve and adopt the audited fimancial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2007 together with the reports of the
directors and auditors

2 Todeclare a final dvidend of 3 51 pence per ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December 2007

3 Toreappoint Mr Hoad who retires by rotation and offers himself for re-election as a dwector

4 Toreappoint Mr Tate who retires by rotation and offers himself for re-election as a director

§ To reappomnt Grant Thornton UK LLP as independent auditors of the Company 1o hold office until the concluston of the next annual
general meeting

6 To authonse the directors to set the remuneration of the independent auditors

7  To approve the Directors' Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2007

8 To ratfy and confirm the total sums paud to directors by way of remuneration for ther services in each of the years 1995-2007

Q  THAT the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authonsed {in substitution for all existing autherities) to exercise all
powers of the company to aliot relevant secunties (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 {the “Act)) up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £2,135,625 85 which authonity shall expire on 1 July 2013 (unless previously revoked or vaned by the
Company In general meeting) save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require
relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant secunties in pursuance of such an offer or
agreement as f the authonty conferred hereby had not expired

Special resolubons

To consider and, if thought fit, approve the following speciat resalutions

10

THAT the directors be and are hereby empowered pursuant to section 95 of the Act to allot equity secunties {within the meaning of
section 94 of the Act) for cash where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity secunties by virtue of section 94(3A) of the Act,
as f section 83(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment prowided that this power shall be hmited to

(A} the allotment of equity securities in connection with a nghts 1ssue, open offer ar any other praemptive offer in favour of ordinary
shareholders {(excluding any shareholder holding shares as treasury shares) and in favour of holders {(excluding any holder holding
shares as treasury shares) of any other class of equity secunty in accordance with the nghts attached to such class where the equity
secunbies respectively attnbutable to the interests of such persons on a fixed record date are proportionate {(as nearly may be) to the
respective numbers of equity secunties held by them, or are otherwise allotted in accordance with the nghts attaching to such equity
secunittes (subject in either case to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient to
deal with fractional entitlernents or legal or practical problems ansing in any overseas territory, the requirements of any regulatory
body ar stock exchange ar any other matter whatsoever) and

(B} the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to 11(A) above) of equity secunties up to an aggregate nominal value of 234321870

and shall exprre on the close of the Annual General Meeting of the Company in 2009 save ihat the Company may make an offer or
agreement before such expiry which would or might require equity secunties to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot
equity secunties in pursuance of such an affer or agreement as if the power conferred thereby had not expired

THAT the Company be generally and uncondibionally authonsed to make market purchases {within the meaning of section 163(3) of the
Act) of ordinary shares of 5 pence nominal value of the Company provided that

{A)} the maximum number of ordinary shares of § pence nominal value hereby authonsed to be purchased is 19,463,135, subject to a
maximum of 14 99% of the Company's voting ordinary shares in 1ssue at the date of this Meeting,

(B) the mimmum price, exclusive of any expenses, which may be paid for an ordinary share 1s 5 pence,

(C) the maximum price, exclusive of any expenses, which may be paid for any such share 15 an amount equal to 105% of the average of
the middle market quotations for an ordinary share taken from the London Stock Exchange Dasly Official List for the five bustness
days immediately preceding the date on which such share i1s contracted to be purchased,

(D) any ordinary shares purchased pursuant to this authonity shall be cancelled, or, if the Directors so determine, held as treasury shares,

(E) the authonty hereby confirmed shall expire on the close of the Annual General Meeting in 2008, and

(F) the Company may make a coniract for the purchase of ordinary shares under this authonty before the expiry of this authonty which
would or might be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authonty and may make purchases of ordinary shares in
pursuance of such a contract as if such authonty had not expred
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Notice of meeting continued

12 THAT the existing article B3 be deleted and replaced by the following new article 83

(A)

(=)]

)

()]

The Board or any committee authonsed by the Board may from time to hme appotnt one or more directors to hold any employment or
executive office with the Company for such perniod and upon such other terms as the Board or any committee authonsed by the
Board may In its discretion decide and may revoke or terminate any appointment so made Any revocation or termination of the
appointment shall be withaut prejudice to any claim for damages that the director may have against the Company or the Company
may have against the director for any breach of any contract of serce between him and the Company which may be involved in the
revocation or terminatton A director sc appointed shall recewve such remuneration, whether by way of salary, commissicn,
participation in profits or otherwise, as the Board or any committee of the Board may decide, and either in additon to or in heu of his
fee as a director

Each of the directors shall be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Board provided that the
aggregate of all fees so paid to directors shall not exceed £500,000 per year or such higher amount as may from tme to bme be
decided by ordinary resolution of the Company

Any director who performs services which in the opinion of the Board or any committee authonsed by the Board go beyond the
ordinary dutes of a director may be paid such extra remuneration {by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise)
as the Board or any committee authonsed by the Board may in its discretion decide in addition to any remuneration provided by or
pursuant 1o any other article

Each director may be pard his reasonable travelling, hote! or incidental expenses of attending and returning from meetings of the
Board or committees of the Board or general meetings of the Company or any other meeting which as a director he 1s enfitied to
attend and shall be paid all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably ncurred by him in the conduct of the Company's
business or i the discharge of his duties as a director The Company may also fund a director's expenditure and that of a drector
of any holding company of the Company for the purposes permitted under the Companies Acts and may do anything to enable a
director or a director of any halding company of the Company fo avord incurring such expenditure as provided in the Comparies Acts

THAT the existing article 892 be deleted and replaced by the following new article 89

“Conflicts of interest requinng authorisabion by directors

(A)

(8)

©

0

The directors may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authonse any matter which would otherwise
involve a director breachtng his duty under the legislation to avoid conflicts of interest (*Conflict?)

A director seeking authonisation in respect of a Conflict must tell the directors of the nature and extent of his interest in a Confiict as
soon as possible The director must give the directors sufficient details of the relevant matter to enable them to decide how to
address the Conflict together with any additional information which they may request

Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authonsed in relation to any matter the subject
of a Confict. Such proposal and any authonty given by the directors shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be
proposed to and resolved upon by the directors under the provisions of these articles except that

the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest will not count in the quorum and wil! not vote on a resclution giving
such authority; and

(1) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other directors so decide, be excluded from any meeting

(0)]

af the directors while the Conflict 1s under consideration

Where the directors give authonty in relation to a Conflict

(1) they may {whether at the time of giving the autharity or subsequently) {a) require that the relevant director I1s excluded from the
receipt of information, the partcipation in discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at directors’ meetings or
cotherwise) related to the Conflict, and {b) impose upon the relevant director such other terms for the purpose of dealing with the
Conflict as they think fit,

() the relevant director will be obhiged to conduct imself in accordance with any terms imposed by the directors in relation to the
Conflict,

(n) the directors may also provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director of the
company) information that 1s confidential to a third party, the director will not be obliged to disclose that mformation to the
company, or to use or apply the information in relabon to the company’s affairs, where to do so would amount to a breach of that
confidence,

(v) the terms of the authonty shall be recorded in wnting (but the authonty shall be effective whether or rot the terms are so
recorded), and

(v) the directors may revoke or vary such authortty at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant director prier to
such revocation in accordance with the terms of such authonty
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Other conflicts of nterest
(E) If adirector knows that he 1s 1n any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed contract with the company or a contract that has

(R

been entered into by the company, he must tell the other directors of the nature and extent of that interest in accordance with the
legistation

If he has disclosed the nature and extent of his interest m accordance with paragraph (E), a director can do any one or more of the

following

() have any kind of interest in a contract with or involving the company or another company m which the company has an interest,

(1) hold any other office or ptace of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conunction with bus office of director for such
penod and upon such terms, including as to remuneration, as the directors may decide,

() alone, or through a firm with which he 1s assocrated do paid professional work for the Company or another company in which the
Company has an interest (other than as auditor),

(™) be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by ar otherwise be interested in any holding company or substdiary
company of the company or any other company in which the Company has an interest, and

(v) be or become a director of any other company in which the Company does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably be
regarded as giving nse to a confiict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other company

Benefits
(G) A director does not have to hand over to the Company any benefit he receives or profit he makes as a result of anything authonsed

under paragraph (A) or allowed under paragraph {F) nor is any type of contract authansed under paragraph (A) or allowed under
paragraph (F) hable to be avoided

Querurn and voting requirements
{H) A director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on a resolution of the directors relating to appointing that director to a position

U

8

wath the company or a company in which the company has an interest or the terms or the terminaton of the appointment.

Thus paragraph applies «f the directors are considenng proposals about appointing two or more directors to positions with the Company
or any company n which the company has an interest. it also apphes f the directors are considenng setting or changing the terms of
their appointment These proposals can be spht up to deal with each director separately If this 1s done, each director can vate and be
included i the quorum for each resolution, except any resolubion concerning him or concerning the appoiniment of another director to
a posthon with a company i which the company 1s interested where the director has a Relevant Interest in it

A director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on a resalution of the directors about a contract in which he has an interest and, if
he does vote, his vole will not be counted, but this prohibition will not apply to any resolution where that interest cannot reasonably be
regarded as likely to give nse to a conflict of mterest or where that interest i1s included in the following hst -

() aresolution about gving lum any guarantee, indemmty or secunty for money which he or any other person has lent or obligations
he or any other person has undertaken at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings,

(u} aresolution about gving any guarantee, indemmty or secunty to another person for a debt or obligation which 15 owed by the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings to that other person if the director has taken responsibility for some or ali of that
debt or obhigation The director can take this responsibility by gnvang a guarantee, indemnity or secunty,

(n) a resolution about gving lum any other indemmty where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on substantially the
same terms,

(w) aresotution about the Company funding his expenditure on defending proceedings or the Company doing something fo enable
him to avaid incummng such expenditure where all other directors are being offered substantially the same arrangements,

(v) aresclution relating to an offer by the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings of any shares or debentures or other
securibes for subscriphion or purchase if the director takes part because he 1s a holder of shares, debentures or other secunties or
if he takes part in the underwribng or sub-underwnting of the offer,

(v} aresolubion about a contract in which he has an inferest because of his mterest in shares or debentures or other secunties of the
Company or because of any other interest in or through the Company;

(vi) a resolubion about a contract involving any other company if the director has an interest of any kend in that company (including an
interest by holding any position in that company or by being a shareholder in that company) This does not apply if he knows that
he has a Relevant interest in that company,

(v} a resalution about a contract relating to a pension fund, superannuation or similar scheme or retirement, death or disability benefits
scheme or employees' share scheme which gives the director benefits which are also generally given to the employees to whom
the fund or scheme relates,

(x) aresolution about a contract relating to an arrangement for the benefit of employees of the Company or of any of its subsidiary
undertakings which only gives him benefits which are also generally given to the employees to whom the arrangement relates, and

() aresolution about a contract relating to any insurance which the company can buy or renew for the benefit of directors or of a
group of people which includes directors
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Notice of meetng continued

{K) A director will be treated as having a Relevant Interest in a company if he holds an mterest in shares representing ene per cent. or more
of a class of equity share capital (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class s that company beld as treasury shares) or of the
vohing nghts of that company In relation to an alternate director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the
alternate director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate director has otherwise Interests which are unknown to the
director and which 1t 1s unreasonable to expect him to know about are \gnored

(L) Where a company in which a drector has a Relevant Interest 1s interested in a contract, the director will also be treated as being
interested in that contract.

{M) Subject to these articles, the directors can exercise or arrange for the exercise of the voting nghts attached to any shares in another
company held by the Company and the voting nghts which they have as directors ef that company in any way that they decide
This includes vating In favour of a resolution appointing any of them as directors or officers of that company and deciding their
remuneration Subject to these articles, they can also vote and be counted in the quorum as directors of the Company in connection
with any of these things

(N) If a question comes up at a meeting of the directors about whether a director {other than the chairman of the meeting) has an interest
In a contract and whether it s bikely to give nse to a conflict of interest or whether he can vote ar be counted in the quorum and the
director does not agree to abstain from voting on the 1ssue or not to be counted in the quorum, the guestion must be referred to the
chairman of the meeting The chairman of the meeting's ruling about any other director is final and conclusive unless the nature or
extent of the director's interest (so far as it 15 known 1o lum) has not been farrly disclosed to the directors If the question comes up
about the chairman of the meeting, the question shall be decided by a resclutton of the directors The charrman of the meehing cannot
vote an the question but can be counted in the quorum The directors' resolution about the chairman of the meeting 15 conclusive,
unless the nature or extent of the chairman's interest (sa far as it 15 known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the directors

General
(0) References in this article to
(1} a contract include references to an existing or proposed contract and to an existing or proposed transaction or arrangement
whether or not i 15 a contract, and
(1} a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties

(P} The company can by ordinary resolution suspend o relax the prowsians of this article to any extent or ratify any contract which has nat
been properly authonised in accordance with this article”

By order of the Board

T e

Cavendish Administration Limited Registered Office
Campany Secretary Crusader House

145-157 St John Street
30 May 2008 London, EC1V 4RU
Notes

1 Amember of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting 1s entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote
instead of im A proxy need not be a member of the Company

2 Aform of proxy i1s enclosed and to be valid must be lodged with the Registrars of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time fixed
for the meeting CREST members may uthse the CREST proxy appoiniment service by following the directions set out in the Form of Proxy

3  Completion and return of a proxy form does not preclude a member from attending and voting at the meeting

4 Pursuant to Regulabon 41 of the Uncertificated Secunties Regulations 2001, the time by which a person must be entered on the register of
members in order to have the nght to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting 15 2 30 pm on 30 June 2008 being 48 hours prior to
the time fixed for the meeting or, if the meeting 1s adjourned, such time being not more than 48 hours pnor to the time fixed for the
adjoumed meeting Changes to eniries on the register of members after that time will be disregarded in determining the nght of any person
{o attend or vote at the meeting

§ Theregister of directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company 1s available for inspection at the Company's registered office during
normal business hours from the date of this notice until the date of the Annual General Meeting and will be avallable for inspection at the
place of the Annual General Meeting for at least 15 minutes prior to and during the meeting




